# **RECOGNIZED BY:**



# HIGHER EDUCATION COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN



Asian Science Citation Index

#### **Aims and Scope**

Pakistan Biomedical Journal is an open access, peer-reviewed International journal that publishes in all fields of health, allied health and biomedical sciences for an internationally diverse authorship. Clinical studies, clinical trials, population studies, public health, discovery medicine, study of microbes, molecular and cellular biology, basic mechanisms of biology, genetics, cancer biology, molecular medicine, pharmacology, virology, chemical biology, immunobiology, chemical biology, physiological and pathological studies are within the scope of journal.

A highly-cited, multi disciplinary, international editorial board assures timely publication of manuscripts and reviews on latest advancements in biomedical sciences.

#### **Types of Articles**

- Research papers
- Short communications
- Review or mini-reviews
- Commentaries
- Perspectives, opinion
- Meta-analysis
- Case reports
- Case studies
- Case-control studies

Reviews on recent progress in biomedical sciences are commissioned by the editors. The purpose of the Pakistan Biomedical Journal is to publish scientific and technical research papers to bring attention of international researchers, scientists, academicians, health care professionals towards the recent advancements in biomedical sciences. The articles are collected in the form of reviews, original and clinical studies. It may serve as a global platform for scientists in relevant fields to connect and share ideas mutually. This journal is open to all the research professionals whose work fall within our scope. Submissions are welcome and may be submitted here.

submissions@pakistanbmj.com

🅑 @JournalPakistan 🞯 @Pakistanbmj

#### Title

The title of the paper should provide a concise statement of the contents of the paper. A good title is very important and will attract readers and facilitate retrieval by online searches, thereby helping to maximize citations. The title should include topical keywords and allude to the interesting conclusions of the paper. A title that emphasizes the main conclusions, or poses a question, has more impact than one that just describes the nature of the study.

#### **Running Head**

Running head should be added in the header along with the page numbers.

#### **Type of Article**

Research Article/ Case Report/ Review Article/ Opinion/ Short Communication/ Mini Review/ Letter to Editor

Running Title: A short version of the paper title. Keywords: The major keywords used in the article have to be mentioned. Authors List here all author names Author<sup>1</sup>, Author<sup>2</sup> and Author<sup>3</sup> <sup>1</sup>Author department, University, Country <sup>2</sup>Author department, University, Country <sup>3</sup>Author department, University, Country

#### \*Corresponding Author

Author name, Affiliation, Department Name, University Name, Address, City, State, Country, E-mail:

#### Abstract

Abstract should include a brief content of the article. It should be structured not more than 250 words. It should include following sub headings: Objective, Methods, Results, Conclusions.

#### **Abbreviations**

If there are any abbreviations in the article they have to be mentioned.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Provide a context or background for the study (i.e., the nature of the problem and its significance). State the specific purpose or research objective of, or hypothesis tested by, the study or observation; the research objective is often more sharply focused when stated as a question. Both the main and secondary objectives should be made clear, and any pre-specified subgroup analyses should be described. Give only strictly pertinent references and do not include data or conclusions from the work being reported.

#### METHODS

The Methods section should include only information that was available at the time the or plan of the protocol. All information gathered during the conduct of study should be included in the method section. Study Design, Inclusion / Exclusion Criteria, Data Collection Procedure, Statistical Analysis.

# RESULTS

Present your results in logical sequence in the text, tables, and illustrations, giving the main or most important findings first.

Do not repeat the data in text and in the tables or illustrations; emphasize or summarize only important observations. When data are summarized in the results section, give numeric results not only as derivatives (for example, percentages) but also as the absolute numbers from which the derivatives were calculated, and specify the statistical methods used to analyze them. Table font should be 10 and caption should be above table and below the figure.

Data should not be duplicated in both figures and tables. The maximum limit of tables and figures should not exceed more than 4. Mention the findings of the study in paragraph, while mentioning figure and table number in text in sequential order.

#### **TABLE**

Table should not be copy pasted or in picture form

#### DISCUSSION

Discuss your findings by comparing your results with other literature

#### REFERENCES

References should not be less than 20. In text references should be in number style. For Example [1] Follow the Pubmed Referencing style Provide the DOI link

**Example:** Cook NR, Rosner BA, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA. Mammographic screening and risk factors for breast cancer. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2009 Dec; 170(11): 1422-32. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp304.

If there are more than six authors, write et al. after the first six names.

#### CONCLUSION(S)

Conclusion should elucidate how the results communicate to the theory presented as the basis of the study and provide a concise explanation of the allegation of the findings.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Provide the list of individuals who contributed in the work and grant details where applicable

#### **Plagiarism policy**

Similarity index should be less than 19 and less than 5 from individual sources.

#### **Authorship Letter**

Signed authorship letter by all authors including there current department, University, City, Country, Email.

#### **Declaration Form**

Signed declaration form submit by corresponding author.

# The submission of article should include: manuscript according to journal guidelines, authorship letter, declaration form. It should be submitted to the following email id: submissions@pakistanbmj.com

# EDITORIAL TEAM

Editors In-Chief	<ul> <li>Prof. Dr. Riffat Mehboob, Ph.D.</li> <li>National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute, National Institute of Health, Bethesda, United States</li> <li>Lahore Medical Research Center<sup>LLP</sup>, Lahore, Pakistan riffat.pathol@gmail.com</li> <li>Prof. Dr. Anna Maria Lavezzi, Ph.D.</li> <li>Lino Rossi Research Center, Department of Biomedical, Surgical and Dental Sciences, University of Milan, Milan, Italy</li> </ul>				
Editors	Ronald Kühne, Ph.D Group Leader Leibniz-Forschungsinstitut für Molekulare Pharmakologie (FMP), Robert-Rössle-Straße 10, 13125, Berlin, Germany				
Associate Editor	<b>Dr. Ahmed Alwazzan,</b> Ph.D* Division of Gynecology Oncology, Faculty of Medicine King Abdul Aziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia				
Managing Editor	Khurram Mehboob Managing Editor Lahore Medical Research Center <sup>LLP</sup> , Lahore, PakistanTest production Editor Lahore Medical Research Center <sup>LLP</sup> , Lahore, Pakistan				
Biostatistician	<b>Humaira Waseem</b> Fatima Jinnah Medical University, Lahore, Pakistan				

VOLUME 08 ISSUE 04



# BOARD

OLUME 08 ISSUE 04 **Advisory Board** 

International Members

Prof. Dr. Peter Oehme, MD, Ph.D
(Honorary Member)
Professor
Founder & Ex-Director East German
Research Institute of Drug Research,
Acadamy of Sciences, Berlin, Germany

**Dr. Shah Jahan,** Ph.D Associate Professor University of Health Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

**Rafael Coveñas Rodríguez** Associate Professor University of Salamanca, Spain

**Prof. Dr. Tahir Jameel** MBBS, MCPS, Mphil, FCPS Professor King Abdulzaiz University Jeddah, Saudia Arabia

**Dr. Diki,** M.ED, Ph.D Lecturer University Terbuka, Indonesia

**Dr. Muhammad Irfan Bashir,** Ph.D Lecturer Faculty of Pharmacy, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Besut Campus, Terengganu, Malaysia **Dr. Ahmad Azam Malik,** Ph.D Associate Professor King Abdul Aziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

**Dr. Haiba Kaul**, Ph.D Associate Professor University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

**Prof. Dr. Beatrice Paradiso** MD, Double Ph.D Professor Dolo Hospital, Venice, Italy

**Prof. Dr. Graciela L. Mazzone,** PhD Associate Professor CONICET - Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT), Faculty of Biomedical Sciences -Universidad Austral, Argentina

**Jehan Zeb, Ph.D** Post Doc, Research Fellow Hong Kong Science & Technology Park Hong Kong SAR China affiliated with The University of Hong Kong

**Prof. Dr. Nihat Dilsiz,** Ph.D Professor University of Health Sciences, Experimental Medicine Practice and Research Center, Istanbul, Turkey

**National Member** 

**Dr. Munir Bhinder,** Ph. D Associate Professor University of Health Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Editorial

Healthcare Entrepreneurship Innovation Among Young Health Professionals Zeeshan Mehboob

# **Review Article**

Cyber Security and Privacy Safeguarding Pharmaceutical Innovation in a Digital Age

Nasir Ahmad Khan, Muhammad Rizwan Saeed, Dilbar Hussain, Muhammad Rehan, Sayed Ruhullah Dimral

# **Original Article**

Subcentimeter Ureteric Calculi on Plain Computed Tomography KUB in Patients Presenting with Renal Colic

Tayyaba Tahira, Yasser Khan, Zobia Saleem, Asim Raza, Aqsa Aslam

Detection of Uterine Fibroids Through Ultrasound Among Women of Reproductive Age Presenting with Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in A Tertiary Care Hospital

Areeba Rizwan, Khadija Tul Kubra, Zobia Saleem, Asim Raza, Yasser Khan, Sidra Saleem, Adeeba Anwar

Quality of Life among Individuals with HIV in Lahore: The Role of Resilience Mansoor Ahmed, Abia Nazim, Hephsibah Younis

Compare the Educational Environment and Prevalence of Myopia in Public and Private Schools

Maryam Jabbar, Farooq Ahmed, Faisal Rashid, Saqib Siddiq, Muhammad Mueen Bhatti, Khawaja Mohsin Ihsan

# Association of Screen Time and Headache and Its Impact on ADLs in Freelancers

Sameen Arshad, Saba Hashmi, Muhammad Tausif, Akash Zameer, Rafay Shahab Ansari, Noman Qayyum

/OLUME 08 ISSUE 04



35



PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)** 



# Healthcare Entrepreneurship Innovation Among Young Health Professionals



Zeeshan Mehboob<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Lahore Medical Research Center <sup>LLP</sup>, Lahore, Pakistan **zeeshan@Imrc.com.pk** 

## ARTICLE INFO

#### How to Cite:

Mehboob, Z. (2025). Healthcare Entrepreneurship Innovation Among Young Health Professionals: Healthcare Entrepreneurship Innovation Among Health Professionals. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 01. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1230

In public health entrepreneurship, an entrepreneur uses their commercial expertise to solve a public health issue or start a health-related company. This can take the kind of creating a new product, funding a public health organisation or even investing a portion of a company's income into research and development for health-related projects and activities. In order to improve outcomes, economic development, and society well-being, healthcare entrepreneurship is acknowledged as crucial. Startups in the healthcare industry have faced structural, regulatory, organisational and behavioral challenges in the past but new business owners are looking for ways to improve access, affordability and quality. Despite a sluggish investment market healthcare venture capital managed to raise \$19 billion in 2023 to fund new initiatives. Many things including consumer demand, local competition and business concepts go into determining the most lucrative healthcare benefits company. However medicines, medical technology, cosmetic, surgery, specialized clinics, telemedicine and laboratories have all demonstrated substantial profitability as a result of high demand and distinctive products. In order to reduce the learning curve especially when building the evidence base for the service, it is advisable for venture teams to have members with expertise in both healthcare and entrepreneurship. One way to get in touch with entrepreneurial accelerators or university tech transfer and commercialisation offices that one might have worked with before is to ask for their help in assembling the team. When developing new healthcare solutions, entrepreneurs should think about ways to involve patients or end-users. One strategy that may improve the solution's applicability and focus on the patient is to collaborate with appropriate patient advocacy groups. New revenue streams and business models may need to be developed by entrepreneurs in the healthcare industry. Healthcare is a fundamental human right but it cannot be provided indefinitely without adequate funding. Participating in healthcare entrepreneurship groups, accelerators and other community initiatives that encourage and facilitate entrepreneurial healthcare participation is one way to fortify one's "business and calling" mentality. Not only do we provide these useful insights for healthcare entrepreneurs but we also include them for other important players. Partnerships that standardise co-produced ideas may be incentivised by corporations. Entrepreneurs with venture capitalists may come up with new ways to finance projects that are tied to unconventional results. By bringing together experts from different fields, non-profits may bring attention to the need for healthcare entrepreneurs. Politicians should think about how to foster business climates that are competitive while maintaining appropriate pricing and cost structures.

# lip

# PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)



#### **Review Article**

# Cyber Security and Privacy Safeguarding Pharmaceutical Innovation in a Digital Age

Nasir Ahmad Khan<sup>1</sup>, Muhammad Rizwan Saeed<sup>1</sup>, Dilber Hussain<sup>1</sup>, Muhammad Rehan<sup>1</sup> and Sayed Ruhullah Dimral<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Public Health, First Mascow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia

# ARTICLE INFO

#### Keywords:

Cybersecurity, Privacy, Pharmaceutical Industry, Digital Transformation, Innovation, Data Protection Regulations

#### How to Cite:

Khan, N. A., Saeed, M. R., Hussain, D., Rehan, M., & Dimral, S. R. (2025). Cyber Security and Privacy Safeguarding Pharmaceutical Innovation in a Digital Age: Pharmaceutical Innovation in a Digital Age. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 02–10. https://doi. org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1232

#### \*Corresponding Author:

Nasir Ahmad Khan Department of Public Health, First Mascow State Medical University, Moscow, Russia nasirahmad1502@gmail.com

Received Date: 9<sup>th</sup> March, 2025 Revised Date: 20<sup>th</sup> April, 2025 Acceptance Date: 26<sup>th</sup> April, 2025 Published Date: 30<sup>th</sup> April, 2025

# INTRODUCTION

The pharmaceutical industry is undergoing a profound digital revolution, leveraging technologies like IoT, cloud computing, EHRs, big data, and AI to enhance operations, patient care, and drug development [1]. This digital transformation, while offering opportunities for innovative service models, has simultaneously increased the industry's vulnerability to sophisticated cyberattacks. Given the sensitive data managed by pharmaceutical organizations including patient records, financial information, research data, and intellectual property robust cybersecurity and data privacy are paramount [2]. Protecting this information is crucial for maintaining patient trust, adhering to regulations (e.g., GDPR, potentially HIPAA), and safeguarding vital research. Cybersecurity breaches can lead to significant

ABSTRACT

In order to improve efficiency and creativity, the pharmaceutical sector is going through a major digital revolution that contains the broad use of digital technologies including cloud computing, IoT devices, EHR systems, and artificial intelligence. Although this change presents new prospects, it also makes the industry more susceptible to sophisticated and frequent attacks. For preserving trust, comply with laws like GDPR and possibly HIPAA, and preserving pharmaceutical innovation, organizations in this sector must protect the vast and sensitive datasets they handle, such as patient medical histories, financial records, research findings, and rational property. In order to protect pharmaceutical innovation and uphold investor confidence, this review paper attempts to give a thorough overview of the digital transition in the pharmaceutical sector and stress the vital significance of strong cybersecurity protections and data privacy rules. It will look at future trends, cybersecurity risks, privacy issues, digital transformation, safeguarding strategies, regulatory frameworks, and policy and industry propositions.

reputational damage, financial losses, legal repercussions, and, critically, compromise drug integrity and patient safety. The escalating threat landscape, including ransomware and phishing, further emphasizes the need for strong security measures [3]. This review aims to: Summarize the ongoing digital transformation within the pharmaceutical industry. Highlight the critical role of robust cybersecurity and data privacy in preserving pharmaceutical innovation and stakeholder trust. The paper will first analyze the digital transformation in the pharmaceutical sector, followed by an examination of cybersecurity threats and data privacy concerns. It will then review relevant legal frameworks and explore solutions for protecting pharmaceutical innovation through strong cybersecurity frameworks [4]. Finally, the paper will discuss emerging cybersecurity trends and technologies relevant to the industry before concluding with recommendations for strengthening cybersecurity and safeguarding innovation in the digital age.

#### Cybersecurity Threats to Pharmaceutical Innovation

Because pharmaceutical breakthroughs are so valuable, intellectual property (IP) theft is a significant cyber threat [5]. Because pharmaceutical firms spend a lot of money on research and development, their intellectual property such as vaccine formulae, clinical trial findings, and drug development data is essential to preserving their competitive edge [6]. To try to steal this important data, cyberattacks like as spear-phishing, cyber espionage, and insider threats are frequently employed. For example, Moderna faced cyber espionage attempts, perhaps by state actors, to obtain vaccine development data, and Pfizer was the victim of a spear-phishing assault directed at its clinical research [7]. In another case, an insider revealed trade secrets at GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), and a hack stole the COVID-19 vaccine formula from Pfizer and BioNTech [8]. Successful IP theft can have serious repercussions, such as diminished competitive advantage, serious harm to one's image, possible legal repercussions, postponements of research and projects, and monetary losses. The danger to intellectual property is even seen by the US as a widespread cyber threat that can undermine national competitiveness and military efficacy [9]. The need of safeguarding intellectual property against cyberattacks is recognized by several national cybersecurity policies[10].

#### Cybersecurity Threats to Pharmaceutical Innovation



**Figure 1:** Cybersecurity Threats to Pharmaceutical Innovation: Illustrating the risks of IP theft through spear-phishing, cyber espionage, and insider threats targeting drug formulas, clinical trial data, and vaccine research.

**Data Breaches and Ransomware Attacks:** Data breaches and ransomware attacks pose significant threats to the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors [11]. These breaches involve unauthorized access to sensitive information like patient data and intellectual property. Causes include cybersecurity incidents, unauthorized access, internal threats, third-party vulnerabilities, and phishing attempts. The financial impact is substantial, with the average cost of a healthcare data breach reaching \$10.1 million in 2023 [12]. Reputational damage and regulatory penalties, such as GDPR fines, also result from these incidents. The sector experiences a high volume of breaches, with 754 reported in 2023 affecting over 52 million individuals[13].

Ransomware: Ransomware attacks encrypt data and demand cryptocurrency payments for decryption keys, severely disrupting healthcare services. The healthcare industry, including pharmaceuticals, is a prime target due to the critical nature of its data. Notable incidents include the 2020 Universal Health Services attack and the 2017 NotPetya attack on Merck & Co., which caused significant financial and operational losses [14]. In 2022, ransomware attacks on the healthcare sector surged by 74%, with average breach costs reaching \$10.1 million. These attacks exploit weaknesses in outdated software and inadequate security [15]. Robust cybersecurity measures, including proactive risk prevention, enhanced security infrastructure, data encryption, employee training, and incident response plans, are crucial for the pharmaceutical industry[16].

**Insider Threats and Human Errors:** Insider threats, both malicious and unintentional, pose significant risks to the pharmaceutical industry [17]. Malicious insiders may steal sensitive information or sabotage systems, while unintentional threats often stem from human errors like accidental disclosures or phishing attacks. Many pharmacies lack effective employee training programs, making them vulnerable to risks like vishing [18]. Implementing cyber hygiene programs, which include password security, access control, and safe data handling, is essential to prevent data breaches and promote cybersecurity awareness [19].

Supply Chain Vulnerabilities: The pharmaceutical industry's increasing reliance on outside vendors for services like cloud storage, software solutions, and medical device integration exposes it to new cybersecurity threats through supply chain vulnerabilities [20]. The number of supply chain attacks targeting healthcare IT systems via these third-party weaknesses is rising. The Target data breach illustrates how weak third-party security can lead to dangerous system breaches. Cyber attackers often find and exploit weaknesses in third-party systems to break into healthcare networks [21]. Healthcare organizations need to perform comprehensive third-party risk assessments and verify that their security meets regulatory and organizational criteria before choosing vendors. Implementing security audits, contractual security terms, and live monitoring of third-party system access helps maximize security protection [22]. Strengthening third-party cybersecurity practices and including detailed security requirements with penalties for non-compliance in contracts are essential to decrease external security threats [23]. In figure 2 major key challenges in pharmaceutical supply chain are discussed.

**Cyber-espionage by Nation-State Actors:** Cyber espionage, often conducted by state-sponsored actors, is an evolving threat targeting pharmaceutical companies to steal valuable intellectual property and sensitive research data[24]. Examples include the cyber espionage attempts against Moderna during the COVID-19 pandemic, aimed at stealing vaccine development data and potentially giving competitors access to proprietary information. These attacks can also lead to the exposure of confidential communications and cause diplomatic tensions due to state-sponsored hacking[25]. Pharmaceutical firms need to invest heavily in protecting patient data and keeping such cyberattacks at bay.

**Emerging Threats in Cloud-Based Pharmaceutical** Systems: The increasing adoption of cloud computing platforms for data storage, processing, and application deployment in the pharmaceutical industry introduces new cybersecurity risks [26]. While cloud services offer scalability and cost-effectiveness, they also present attack vectors that need careful consideration. Organizations must be aware of the risks within cloud computing and understand the attack vectors that can cause threats [27]. Data stored and transmitted via cloud services must be adequately protected through measures such as data encryption both at rest and in transit. Performing thorough vendor risk assessments and ensuring that cloud providers meet stringent security standards and regulatory requirements are crucial for mitigating these emerging threats [28].

**Open-Source and Public Data Sharing Risks:** Although open-source software has advantages like customization and openness, it can also take in flaws that hackers could take advantage of if they are not well measured and fixed [29]. Similar to this, disclosing public data may result in unexpected data breaches or give attackers useful knowledge, particularly if it unintentionally contains private or sensitive information [30]. To reduce these possible hazards, the pharmaceutical sector must use open-source mechanisms with prudence and put strong security actions in place when sharing data publicly[31].

**IoT and connected medical device risks in the pharmaceutical industry:** There are serious cybersecurity threats linked with the growing integration of connected medical devices and the Internet of Things (IoT) into pharmaceutical operations and healthcare delivery [32]. These gadgets, which include implantable and wearable systems, are vulnerable to intrusions as they frequently lack built-in security protections or do not obtain routine maintenance and upgrades. Examples include Bayer's production-related compromised IoT devices, which might allow remote access to industrial systems, interfere with automated processes, cause delays in the creation of drugs, and result in financial losses [33]. Access to strategic information can make pharmacies that are part of hospitals and bigger health networks susceptible. It's also crucial to secure AI systems that could be connected to these gadgets. To ensure patient safety and the integrity of pharmaceutical operations, these devices and the sensitive data they handle must be protected by strong security measures[34].

Privacy Challenges in Pharmaceutical Digitalization and Compliance with Data Protection Regulations: The digital transformation of the pharmaceutical industry offers opportunities for productivity, quality, and compliance improvements. However, it also brings complex privacy issues, especially concerning sensitive data like health information and intellectual property [35]. Healthcare organizations must expand their digital infrastructure while ensuring patient data privacy and combating cybersecurity risks. Noncompliance with data protection regulations like GDPR, HIPAA, and CCPA can result in financial fines and increased vulnerability to cyber threats [36]. HIPAA provides guidelines for securing electronic health information, requiring strong security measures and potentially incurring penalties for noncompliance. GDPR, applicable in the EU, imposes strict penalties for mishandling EU citizens' data and demands transparent data governance [37]. Healthcare organizations face challenges in meeting regulatory requirements due to financial, operational, and evolving security issues. They should integrate compliance into their cybersecurity frameworks. The pharmaceutical industry, vital for lifesaving drugs, is increasingly at risk of cyber-attacks and data breaches, making the protection of sensitive data crucial for intellectual property and pharmaceutical safety and effectiveness [38].

Secure Data Sharing in Research Collaborations: Efficient collaboration and information exchange among stakeholders (R&D, manufacturing, quality control, regulatory affairs, supply chain partners) are crucial for data accuracy and operational efficiency [39]. Digital transformation technologies like cloud computing and secure data-sharing platforms facilitate this while ensuring data protection and confidentiality. Blockchain technology can also establish a secure and transparent data infrastructure for collaboration in the pharmaceutical supply chain, enhancing data integrity and minimizing conflicts [40]. However, data privacy, security, and governance concerns must be addressed for ethical and secure blockchain use. Sharing clinical trial data also requires careful consideration of patient privacy, including informed consent and legal aspects of Data Sharing Agreements(DSAs)[40].

**Anonymization and Data Integrity:** Maintaining data integrity (accuracy, consistency, and reliability throughout

its lifecycle) is critical for drug safety and regulatory decision-making. Anonymization or de-identification of patient-level data is a key recommendation for sharing clinical trial data for third-party research. Data holders employ strategies to minimize the risk of patient reidentification when sharing de-identified data, considering relevant legislation and data security controls. However, 100% confidentiality cannot be guaranteed, especially with increasing data availability in the public domain. Digital transformation initiatives, including electronic data capture systems and automated data validation, can significantly enhance data precision and dependability, bolstering data integrity by reducing manual errors and unauthorized modifications. Block chain can also contribute to data originality in pharma manufacturing [41] Ethical Issues with the Use of Patient Data: Using sophisticated analytics in pharmaceutical research and development presents ethical issues with regard to protecting patient privacy. It's critical to strike a balance between upholding strict ethical standards, patient privacy, and technical innovation. To guarantee that innovation supports the larger healthcare purpose without jeopardizing individual privacy rights, a persistent dedication to both technological excellence and ethical monitoring is necessary. A patient-centered strategy that gives patients authority over their medical records via cryptographic keys in blockchain systems is consistent with the moral precepts of informed consent and autonomy[42].

**Risks to Privacy in Remote and Telemedicine Services:** As loT is used more and more to create innovative healthcare applications, privacy (access control), confidentiality, and integrity especially with regard to patient records are the main issues. Security and privacy issues are brought up by remote and telemedicine services, even if they save costs and enhance patient satisfaction [43].

International Difficulties with Cross-Border Data Transfers: Pharmaceutical businesses that operate internationally have to manage and abide by a number of legal obligations in several jurisdictions, each of which has specific standards for data integrity. Establishing uniform and harmonized data integrity procedures across the global supply chain may be made more difficult by national variations in laws, norms, and expectations. To ensure smooth market access and speed up approval procedures, it is essential to harmonize international regulatory standards. Establishing global rules to streamline regulatory submissions across borders is a critical function of organizations such as the International Council for Harmonization(ICH)[44].

**Risks to Privacy and Third-Party Data Processing:** Healthcare organizations frequently depend on outside suppliers when looking to expand their digital infrastructure, which might pose privacy problems if these partners fail to sufficiently secure patient data. In accordance with HIPAA, organizations must make sure business associates set up strong security measures for ePHI[45].

Strategies for Enhancing Cybersecurity in Pharmaceutical Innovation: The pharmaceutical industry, undergoing rapid digital transformation, faces increasing and sophisticated cyber threats that can jeopardize sensitive data, intellectual property, and patient safety. Enhancing cybersecurity is therefore crucial to protect the innovation pipeline, maintain regulatory compliance, and foster trust. A multi-layered and proactive approach, incorporating advanced technologies, robust practices, and a strong security culture, is essential to build resilience against evolving cyber risks[46].

**Implementing Robust Encryption and Access Controls:** Implementing robust encryption is a fundamental policy for protecting sensitive pharmaceutical data both in transit and at rest. This comprises using advanced encryption algorithms like AES and ensuring secure key managing. Strong access controls, based on the belief of least privilege, are vital to limit data access only to official personnel. This involves multi-factor verification, rolebased access control, and regular reviews of user permissions. Cyber hygiene programs that syndicate password security training with access control methodology education are also crucial to defend against employee-caused data breaks[47].

Al and Machine Learning for Threat Detection: Artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML) are developing as powerful tools for improving threat detection in the pharmaceutical industry. AI/ML can analyze vast amounts of data to identify patterns and anomalies that may specify security breaches, enabling real-time threat detection and response. Al-driven systems can learn from historical data and adapt to emerging threats, cultivating risk management. Integrating AI with mathematical optimization techniques can further enhance the detection and neutralization of threats[48].

**Zero Trust Architecture in Pharmaceutical Security:** The sources do not explicitly detail the implementation of a Zero Trust architecture in pharmaceutical security. However, the principles of Zero Trust, which assume no user or device is inherently trustworthy and require continuous verification, align with the need for stringent access controls and monitoring discussed within the sources. Applying Zero Trust principles would necessitate strict identity verification, micro-segmentation of networks, and continuous monitoring of all activity within the pharmaceutical IT ecosystem [49].

**Cybersecurity Training and Awareness for Employees:** Cybersecurity training and awareness programs for employees are critical in creating a security-conscious culture and mitigating insider threats and employeecaused data breaches. Every employee needs to develop a cybersecurity awareness culture that understands their responsibility to guard sensitive data. Training should cover password security, phishing awareness, safe data handling procedures, and the importance of reporting suspicious activities. Regular updates and cybersecurity drills for handling IP breaches can further enhance employee preparedness[50].

**Regulatory Compliance and Risk Management:** Pharmaceutical cybersecurity relies heavily on proactive risk management and regulatory compliance. Strict laws like GDPR and HIPAA, which need strong security requirements, govern how the sector functions. Detecting, evaluating, and reducing cyber threats at every stage of the supply chain and research and development process is part of a proactive approach to risk management. Regular penetration tests, vulnerability scans, and security assessments are all part of this [51].

**Enhancing Plans for Incident Response and Recovery:** To lessen the effects of cyberattacks and guarantee company continuity, incident response and recovery plans must be strengthened. Procedures for identifying, evaluating, containing, eliminating, and recovering from security issues should be described in these plans. To guarantee the efficacy of these programs, regular testing and updating are necessary. A proactive approach to cybersecurity also includes developing operational continuity plans to minimize disruptions[52].

Regulatory Frameworks and Compliance in Cybersecurity: A key component of cybersecurity, especially in the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries, is regulatory compliance. Strict regulatory frameworks are in place for pharmaceutical businesses and healthcare institutions to secure sensitive patient data and maintain the integrity of their operations. The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Framework, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union, and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) in the United States are among the important laws cited in the sources. Organizations are required by these frameworks to set up technological, administrative, and physical security measures for sensitive data, including electronic health records. Compliance is not merely a checklist exercise but a fundamental aspect of ensuring data privacy, maintaining patient trust, and avoiding significant financial penalties and reputational damage. For example, GDPR allows EU citizens to receive compensation equivalent to 4% of an organization's global annual turnover for non-compliance. Similarly, HIPAA non-compliance can lead to millions of dollars in fines [53].

**Case Study in Pharmaceutical Cybersecurity The Incident:** In 2017, pharmaceutical giant Merck & Co. was hit by a significant ransomware attack. This attack caused substantial operational disruptions across the company.

**Impact:** The ransomware attack led to a total IT outage for Merck. The attack caused significant operational disruptions for the company. Merck experienced delays and impacted production quality due to the cyberattack on IoT devices in its production systems. The company faced financial losses from production downtime as a consequence of the attack. Interestingly, Merck's insurance initially denied their claim for the losses, citing a war exclusion clause.

**Type of Attack:** The Merck incident is identified as a ransomware attack. Ransomware is a type of malware that encrypts a victim's files and demands a ransom payment to restore access.

Remediation and Lessons Learned: The instance highlights how important it is for the pharmaceutical industry to have a thorough and proactive tactic to cybersecurity in order to reduce risks and lessen the effect of potential attacks. As established by the insurance dispute, it draws attention to the possibility of serious financial consequences that go beyond the expense of recovery. The assault highlights how vulnerable IoT devices and production systems are to cyberattacks in the pharmaceutical manufacturing industry. This calls for particular security protocols for situations including operational technology (OT). Finally, the ransomware assault on Merck is a clear reminder of the serious financial and operational repercussions that cyberattacks may have on large pharmaceutical firms. It emphasizes how significant it is to have strong cybersecurity measures, such as proactive risk management, preparing for operational continuity, and paying close attention to protecting production systems [54].

# Future Directions and Emerging Trends in Cybersecurity for Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Industries

Digital transformation and evolving threats are shaping cybersecurity trends in the pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors. Key developments include:

**Machine Learning and AI:** These technologies enhance threat detection by analyzing large datasets and identifying anomalies, leading to more precise and proactive threat mitigation.

**Blockchain:** Provides robust data security and integrity, particularly for pharmaceutical supply chains, to ensure transparency and prevent counterfeiting.

**Medical Device Security:** Focus on securing connected devices (IoMT) to protect patient safety and healthcare system integrity.

**Emerging Trends:** Integrating security into the Software Development Lifecycle (SDLC) for secure medical device

design. Developing quantum-resistant encryption methods to safeguard against future threats. Strengthening regulatory frameworks and compliance requirements. Adopting proactive and adaptive security systems that evolve with new threats. Incorporating cybersecurity into Industry 5.0, emphasizing humanmachine collaboration and resilience. Converging AI and blockchain for advanced cybersecurity solutions. These trends reflect a proactive and technology-driven approach to enhance resilience against evolving threats and protect sensitive data and critical operations [55].

# CONCLUSIONS

The digital transformation of the pharmaceutical industry, while offering significant opportunities for innovation and efficiency, has also exposed it to a range of cybersecurity threats and privacy challenges. Intellectual property theft, data breaches, ransomware attacks, insider threats, supply chain vulnerabilities, and cyber-espionage are among the critical issues that necessitate robust cybersecurity measures. Compliance with data protection regulations like GDPR and HIPAA is essential to protect sensitive data and maintain stakeholder trust. Strategies such as implementing strong encryption, adopting Al and machine learning for threat detection, enforcing zero trust architecture, and enhancing employee training are crucial for safeguarding pharmaceutical innovation. Future trends, including the integration of AI and blockchain, the security of IoT devices, and the development of quantumresistant encryption, will shape the industry's cybersecurity landscape. A proactive and adaptive approach, combined with stringent regulatory compliance, is vital to ensure the integrity and safety of pharmaceutical operations in the digital age.

#### Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: NAK Methodology: MRS Formal analysis: DH Writing, review and editing: NAK, MRS, DH, MR, SRD

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

## Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

#### REFERENCES

[1] Snigdha EZ, Jalil MS, Dahwal FM, Saeed M, Mehedy MT, Hasan SK. Cybersecurity in Healthcare IT Systems: Business Risk Management and Data Privacy Strategies. The American Journal of Engineering and Technology. 2025 Mar; 7(03): 163-84. doi: 10.37547/tajet/Volume07lssue03-15.

- [2] Arden NS, Fisher AC, Tyner K, Yu LX, Lee SL, Kopcha M. Industry 4.0 for pharmaceutical manufacturing: Preparing for the smart factories of the future. International Journal of Pharmaceutics. 2021 Jun; 602: 120554. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2021.120554.
- [3] Bag S, Pretorius JH, Gupta S, Dwivedi YK. Role of institutional pressures and resources in the adoption of big data analytics powered artificial intelligence, sustainable manufacturing practices and circular economy capabilities. Technological Forecasting and Social Change. 2021 Feb; 163: 120420. doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120420.
- [4] Kruse CS, Frederick B, Jacobson T, Monticone DK. Cybersecurity in healthcare: A systematic review of modern threats and trends. Technology and Health Care. 2017 Jan; 25(1): 1–0. doi: 10.3233/THC-161263.
- [5] Parihar A, Prajapati JB, Prajapati BG, Trambadiya B, Thakkar A, Engineer P. Role of IOT in healthcare: Applications, security & privacy concerns. Intelligent Pharmacy. 2024 Oct; 2(5): 707-14. doi: 10.1016/j.ipha. 2024.01.003.
- [6] Jadav NK, Kakkar R, Mankodiya H, Gupta R, Tanwar S, Agrawal S et al. GRADE: Deep learning and garlic routing-based secure data sharing framework for IIoT beyond 5G. Digital Communications and Networks. 2023 Apr; 9(2): 422-35. doi: 10.1016/j. dcan.2022.11.004.
- [7] Rust-Nguyen N, Sharma S, Stamp M. Darknet traffic classification and adversarial attacks using machine learning. Computers & Security. 2023 Apr; 127: 103098. doi: 10.1016/j.cose.2023.103098.
- [8] Aamir M and Zaidi SM. DDoS attack detection with feature engineering and machine learning: the framework and performance evaluation. International Journal of Information Security. 2019 Dec; 18: 761-85. doi: 10.1007/s10207-019-00434-1.
- [9] Benmalek M. Ransomware on cyber-physical systems: Taxonomies, case studies, security gaps, and open challenges. Internet of Things and Cyber-Physical Systems. 2024 Jan; 4: 186-202. doi: 10.1016/j.iotcps.2023.12.001.
- [10] Check Point Research. A continuing cyber-storm with increasing ransomware threats and a surge in healthcare and APAC region. [Cited on: 10th May 2025]. Available at: https://blog.checkpoint.com/ security/a-continuing-cyber-storm-withincreasing-ransomware-threats-and-a-surge-inhealthcare-and-apac-region/.
- [11] Shaki F, Amirkhanloo M, Jahani D, Chahardori M. Artificial intelligence in pharmaceuticals: Exploring applications and legal challenges. Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Research. 2024 Dec; 10(1): 1-0. doi:

10.32598/PBR.10.1.1257.1.

- [12] Shackelford SJ. Protecting intellectual property and privacy in the digital age: the use of national cybersecurity strategies to mitigate cyber risk. Chapman Law Review. 2016; 19: 445.
- [13] Ramezan G and Leung C. A blockchain-based contractual routing protocol for the internet of things using smart contracts. Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing. 2018 Nov; 2018(1): 4029591. doi: 10.1155/2018/4029591.
- [14] He Y, Aliyu A, Evans M, Luo C. Health care cybersecurity challenges and solutions under the climate of COVID-19: scoping review. Journal of Medical Internet Research. 2021 Apr; 23(4): e21747. doi: 10.2196/21747.
- [15] Weber GM, Adams WG, Bernstam EV, Bickel JP, Fox KP, Marsolo K et al. Biases introduced by filtering electronic health records for patients with "complete data". Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association. 2017 Nov; 24(6): 1134-41. doi: 10.1093/ jamia/ocx071.
- Singh, H. (2024). Ethical considerations in pharmaceutical analytics: Balancing innovation and patient privacy. International Journal of Research in Computer Applications and Information Technology. 2024 Nov; 7(2): 955-972. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.140549 04.
- [17] Abouelmehdi K, Beni-Hessane A, Khaloufi H. Big healthcare data: preserving security and privacy. Journal of big data. 2018 Dec; 5(1): 1-8. doi: 10.1186/s 40537-017-0110-7.
- [18] Chen Y, Yang O, Sampat C, Bhalode P, Ramachandran R, lerapetritou M. Digital twins in pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical manufacturing: a literature review. Processes. 2020 Sep; 8(9): 1088. doi: 10.3390 /pr8091088.
- [19] Demyanenko VG, Demyanenko DV, Breusova SV, Baranova II, Karpenko LA. Effect of the material of primary packaging containers on providing of visual inspection of pharmaceutical products. Scripta Scientifica Pharmaceutica. 2016 Jul; 3(1): 60-72. doi: 10.14748/ssp.v1i1.1685.
- [20] Abrar I, Ayub Z, Masoodi F. Current trends and future scope for the internet of things. Internet of Things in Business Transformation: Developing an Engineering and Business Strategy for Industry 5.0. 2021 Jan: 185-209. doi: 10.1002/9781119711148.ch11.
- [21] Buese, A. M., & Setterlund, E. Rise in Healthcare Data Breaches & the Impact for Healthcare Providers in 2024. Journal of Healthcare Information Management. 2024 Mar; 38(2): 225-241.
- [22] AL-Dosari K, Fetais N, Kucukvar M. Artificial intelligence and cyber defense system for banking

industry: A qualitative study of Al applications and challenges. Cybernetics and systems. 2024 Feb; 55(2): 302-30. doi: 10.1080/01969722.2022.2112539.

- [23] Gupta V. IoT enabled air pollution monitoring in smart cities. Handbook of Wireless Sensor Networks: Issues and Challenges in Current Scenario's. 2020: 569-91. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-40305-8\_27.
- [24] Sufian MA, Haque S, Al-Samad K, Faruq O, Hossain MA, Talukder T et al. IoT and Data Science Integration for Smart City Solutions. AIJMR-Advanced International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research. 2024 Sep 18;2(5). doi: 10.62127/aijmr.2024.v02i05. 1086.
- [25] Elali W. The importance of strategic agility to business survival during corona crisis and beyond. International Journal of Business Ethics and Governance (IJBEG). 2021 May: 1-8. doi: 10.51325/ ijbeg.v4i2.64.
- [26] Cremer F, Sheehan B, Fortmann M, Kia AN, Mullins M, Murphy F et al. Cyber risk and cybersecurity: a systematic review of data availability. The Geneva papers on risk and insurance. Issues and Practice. 2022 Feb; 47(3): 698. doi: 10.1057/s41288-022-00266-6.
- [27] Khan N, Hossain S, Khadka U, Sarkar S. Optimizing Business Operations through Edge Computing: Advancements in Real-Time Data Processing for the Big Data Era. AIJMR-Advanced International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research. 2024 Oct; 2(5). doi: 10.62127/aijmr.2024.v02i05.1108.
- [28] Akram PS, Ramesha M, Valiveti SA, Sohail S, Rao KT. IoT based remote patient health monitoring system. In2021 7th International Conference on Advanced Computing and Communication Systems (ICACCS) 2021 Mar; 1: 1519-1524. doi: 10.1109/ICACCS51430.20 21.9441874.
- [29] Buliga O, Scheiner CW, Voigt KI. Business model innovation and organizational resilience: towards an integrated conceptual framework. Journal of Business Economics. 2016 Aug; 86: 647-70. doi: 10.10 07/s11573-015-0796-y.
- [30] Rouhani S, Ashrafi A, Zare Ravasan A, Afshari S. The impact model of business intelligence on decision support and organizational benefits. Journal of Enterprise Information Management. 2016 Feb; 29(1): 19-50. doi: 10.1108/JEIM-12-2014-0126.
- [31] Almalawi A, Khan Al, Alsolami F, Abushark YB, Alfakeeh AS. Managing security of healthcare data for a modern healthcare system. Sensors. 2023 Mar; 23(7): 3612. doi: 10.3390/s23073612.
- [32] Arif H, Kumar A, Fahad M, Hussain HK. Future horizons: Al-enhanced threat detection in cloud environments: Unveiling opportunities for research. International Journal of Multidisciplinary Sciences

and Arts. 2024 Jan; 3(1): 242-51. doi: 10.47709/ijm dsa.v2i2.3452.

- [33] Dedzins R, James M. Biopharmaceutical technical resource guide. Emerson; 2015 [Cited On: 10th May 2025]. Available at: https://www.lakesidecontrols. com/getattachment/7846bd01-541d-4b2da70017a37c651f76/article.
- [34] Biasin E, Kamenjašević E, Ludvigsen KR. Cybersecurity of Al medical devices: risks, legislation, and challenges. Research Handbook on Health, Al and the Law. 2024 Jul: 57-74. doi: 10.4337 /9781802205657.ch04.
- [35] Attkan A, Ranga V, Ahlawat P. A Rubik's Cube Cryptosystem-based Authentication and Session Key Generation Model Driven in Blockchain Environment for IoT Security. Association for Computing Machinery Transactions on Internet of Things. 2023 May; 4(2): 1-39. doi: 10.1145/3586578.
- [36] Patil RS, Kulkarni SB, Gaikwad VL. Artificial intelligence in pharmaceutical regulatory affairs. Drug Discovery Today. 2023 Sep; 28(9): 103700. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2023.103700.
- [37] Mohammed ZA, Mohammed M, Mohammed S, Syed M. Artificial Intelligence: Cybersecurity Threats in Pharmaceutical IT Systems. 2024 Aug: 11(8). doi: 10.17148/IARJSET.2024.11801.
- [38] Michael K, Abbas R, Roussos G. Al in cybersecurity: The paradox. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Transactions on Technology and Society. 2023 Jun; 4(2): 104-9. doi: 10.1109/TTS.2023.32801 09.
- [39] Abd Elazeem NE. Effect of cybercrime on the pharmaceutical industry. Journal of Intellectual Property and Innovation Management. 2020 Jul; 3(5): 91-121. doi: 10.21608/jipim.2021.181274.
- [40] Kazim AK and Shanshul NR. The impact of cyberattacks on companies and organisations in developed countries. Edelweiss Applied Science and Technology. 2024 Dec; 8(6): 9245-52. doi: 10.55214/ 25768484.v8i6.3980.
- [41] Eisenhardt KM and Graebner ME. Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges. Academy of Management Journal. 2007 Feb; 50(1): 25-32. doi: 10.5465/amj.2007.24160888.
- [42] Khan MN, Haque S, Azim KS, Al-Samad K, Jafor AH, Aziz M et al. Analyzing the Impact of Data Analytics on Performance Metrics in SMEs. AIJMR-Advanced International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research. 2024 Sep; 2(5). doi: 10.62127/aijmr.2024.v02i05.1081.
- [43] Haque S, Azim KS, Al-Samad K, Jafor AH, Aziz M, Faruq O et al. The Evolution of Artificial Intelligence and its Impact on Economic Paradigms in the USA and Globally. AlJMR-Advanced International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research. 2024 Sep; 2(5). doi:

10.62127/aijmr.2024.v02i05.1083.

- [44] Khasawneh O and Alzghoul A. The real effects of Fintech on the global financial system. International Journal of Professional Business Review: International Journal of Professional Business Review. 2023 Mar; 8(3): e01725. doi: 10.26668/ businessreview/2023.v8i3.1725.
- [45] Hossain Z, Chowdhury SS, Rana MS, Hossain A, Faisal MH, Al Wahid SA *et al.* Business Innovations in Healthcare: Emerging Models for Sustainable Growth. AlJMR-Advanced International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research. 2024 Sep; 2(5). doi: 10.62127/aijmr.2024.v02i05.1093.
- [46] Punia V and Aggarwal G. Impact of Artificial Intelligence(AI) in Cybersecurity. InRecent Advances in Computational Intelligence and Cyber Security. 2024 Apr; 13(5): 183-193. doi: 10.1201/9781003518587-18.
- [47] Salama R and Al-Turjman F. Future uses of Al and blockchain technology in the global value chain and cybersecurity. InSmart Global Value Chain 2024 Aug: 257-269. doi: 10.1201/9781003461432-17.
- [48] Field M. WannaCry cyber-attack cost the NHS£ 92m as 19,000 appointments cancelled. The telegraph. 2018 Oct; 11. doi: 10.1016/S1361-3723(18)30102-7.
- [49] Pharmaceutical Technology. Five pharma cybersecurity breaches to know and learn from: the transition to digital, expedited by the Covid-19 pandemic, has opened up new cybersecurity concerns. [Cite On: 10th May 2025]. Available at: h t t p s : / / w w w . p h a r m a c e u t i c a l technology.com/comment/pharma-cybersecuritybreaches/.
- [50] Alexandra P, Camelia C, Elena CC, Bogdan P, Răzvan dc. Cyber risk assessment in the pharmaceutical industry: vulnerabilities, threats, and global response strategies. Annals of'Constantin Brancusi'University of Targu-Jiu. Economy Series/Analele Universității'Constantin Brâncuşi'din Târgu-Jiu Seria Economie. 2024 Oct: 1(5): 307-319.
- [51] Shafik W. Blockchain-based internet of things (B-IoT): Challenges, solutions, opportunities, open research questions, and future trends. Blockchainbased Internet of Things. 2024 Feb: 35-58. doi: 10.1201/9781003407096-3.
- [52] Mathkor DM, Mathkor N, Bassfar Z, Bantun F, Slama P, Ahmad F et al. Multirole of the internet of medical things (IoMT) in biomedical systems for managing smart healthcare systems: An overview of current and future innovative trends. Journal of Infection and Public Health. 2024 Apr; 17(4): 559-72. doi: 10.1016/j. jiph.2024.01.013.
- [53] Ramos-Cruz B, Andreu-Perez J, Martínez L. The cybersecurity mesh: A comprehensive survey of

involved artificial intelligence methods, cryptographic protocols and challenges for future research. Neurocomputing. 2024 Feb: 127427. doi: 10.1016/j.neucom.2024.127427.

- [54] Iqbal Z, Khan S, Mehmood A, Lloret J, Alrajeh NA. Adaptive Cross-Layer Multipath Routing Protocol for Mobile Ad Hoc Networks. Journal of Sensors. 2016; 2016(1): 5486437. doi: 10.1155/2016/5486437.
- [55] Li C, Li F, Yin L, Luo T, Wang B. A Blockchain-Based IoT Cross-Domain Delegation Access Control Method. Security and Communication Networks. 2021Sep; 2021(1): 3091104. doi: 10.1155/2021/3091104.



# PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)** 



#### **Original Article**

Subcentimeter Ureteric Calculi on Plain Computed Tomography KUB in Patients Presenting with Renal Colic

#### Tayyaba Tahira', Yasser Khan', Zobia Saleem'', Asim Raza', and Aqsa Aslam'

<sup>1</sup>School of Allied Health Sciences, Combined Military Hospital, Lahore Medical College and Institute of Dentistry, Lahore, Pakistan

## ARTICLE INFO

#### Keywords:

Subcentimeter Ureteric Calculi, Renal Colic, Pain Distribution

#### How to Cite:

Tahira, T., Khan, Y., Saleem, Z., Raza, A., & Aslam, A. (2025). Subcentimeter Ureteric Calculi on Plain Computed Tomography KUB in Patients Presenting with Renal Colic: Subcentimeter Ureteric Stone Detection. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 11-16. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1224

#### \*Corresponding Author:

Zobia Saleem

Department of Allied Health Sciences, Combined Military Hospital, Lahore Medical College and Institute of Dentistry, Lahore, Pakistan zobiasaleem95.work@gmail.com

Received date: 20<sup>th</sup> February, 2025 Revised date: 31<sup>st</sup> March, 2025 Acceptance date: 9<sup>th</sup> April, 2025 Published date: 30<sup>th</sup> April, 2025

# ABSTRACT

Renal colic, often caused by ureteric stones, is a common and painful condition. Subcentimeter ureteric stones are frequently identified using CT KUB. Understanding the demographics, pain levels, and distribution of these stones can help in better diagnosing, managing and treating the condition. Objective: To determine the prevalence of subcentimeter ureteric calculi in patients who have renal colic. Methods: Between September and December of 2024, a four-month descriptive cross-sectional study was carried out at the Diagnostic Center of CMH, Lahore. The target population included all patients presenting with renal colic, undergoing CT KUB. Sample size of 266 was calculated using WHO calculator and Cochran's formula. Data were collected using proforma and CT KUB reports, and analyzed using IBM SPSS version 26.0.95% confidence intervals were provided for the results, and statistical tests including the Kruskal-Wallis, Shapiro-Wilk, Mann-Whitney U, and Normality tests were employed. Findings: Patients ranged in age from 18 to 71 years old, with an average age of 43. Results: The majority of patients were between the ages of 20 and 35, with more men (59.8%) than women (40.2%). Pain levels varied, with an average of 5.36 on the visual analog scale. Moderate pain was the most common, experienced by 38.33% of patients. Intermittent pain was more common (68.8%) than continuous pain (31.2%). Dysuria was the most common urination issue (35.71%). Ureteric stones were present in 77.82% of patients, with the right and left renal locations being the most common sites. The most common type of stones found were subcentimeters (60.9%). Conclusions: The distribution of subcentimeter ureteric stones and pain levels in patients with renal colic are described in this study on the identification of ureteric calculi in patients presenting with renal colic on CT KUB. The findings mostly seen in middle aged male patients with intermittent pain, right and left renal calculus were the most common sites and subcentimeter ureteric calculi were frequently observed category. Also describes the other  $findings\,like\,Hydrone phrosis, cyst, and peripheral\,fat.$ 

# INTRODUCTION

Ureteric calculi is the formation of stones present in the ureter. It is found that these stones contain mainly calcium in about 80%. Ureteric calculi is one of the most frequently diagnosed urologic diseases worldwide. It is estimated that there will be a 12% lifetime incidence of the disease, usually occurring in patients aged 20 to 50 years [1, 2]. Acute flank discomfort brought on by renal colic is a typical clinical presentation in the accident and emergency room. Renal colic patients usually have radiating, intense flank discomfort that is colicky, either with or without hematuria. To evaluate patients with acute renal colic pain, two imaging modalities are used: computed tomography(KUB),

ultrasound, and standard radiography of the kidneys, ureters, and bladder [3, 4]. It is now possible to reliably diagnose ureteral calculi on plain computed tomography CT KUB because to technological advancements [5]. Conventional abdominal radiography of the kidney, ureter, and bladder(KUB) is less sensitive than CT KUB in detecting subcentimeter ureteral calculi because small ureteral calculi are invisible on ultrasonography or abdominal radiography. Therefore, many patients who come with flank pain first have plain CT KUB in order to diagnose subcentimeter ureteral calculi [6]. Renal colic pain can be caused by a number of reasons, including pressure from the proximal stone, inflammation and edema surrounding the stone, smooth muscle spasms in the ureter, kidney stone restriction of urine flow, and elevated pressure on the urinary tract wall. The primary mechanisms of pain in these patients are urethral smooth muscle contractions and increased pressure in the urinary system as a result of an increase in local blood flow. Furthermore, there is heightened pain sensitivity. Tension in the renal pelvis initiates prostaglandin synthesis, production, and local release. Vasodilation and diuresis result from this, increasing intrarenal pressure. The ureter has a limited channel, and measuring its diameter can provide information about its status, particularly in relation to obstructive pathologies caused by compressive abdominal mass, ureterolithiasis, congenital aetiologies, or any other distal blockage. Long-term blockage may result in hydronephrosis and consequent kidney injury. Accurately diagnosing ureteral dilatation is essential for patient care, particularly in situations of low-density stones, periureteral calcifications, small non-obstructive stones, ureteral calculi, and surrounding inflammations that are mild or borderline [7]. Many research articles have limited literature on subcentimeter ureteral calculi in Pakistan however much of the literature is present in patients with plain CT KUB reporting on renal calculi and patients with suspected ureteral calculi with a history of renal colic pain.

This study will contributed to improve patient outcomes in the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of disease, reduces the risk of further complications and lessen patient sufferings.

# METHODS

This study was descriptive cross-sectional was conducted in Diagnostic Center at Combined Military Hospital (CMH), Lahore. The trial ran for six months, from July to December 2024. The prevalence of ureteric calculi was 53% in study conducted by F G Sommer FG et al [8]. WHO calculator and Cochran, W. G. (1997) formula was used to calculate the sample size (n=266)[9]. Purposive sampling technique was used to gather the data. All patients with the history of renal colic, Participants in this study had to be at least 18 years old and be visiting the diagnostic center for CT KUB. Patients with Double J (DJ) stents (stents inserted in the ureters) were excluded, pregnant females and operated cases (all patients with history of any previously performed renal surgery between 5 years). Computed Tomography (Siemens 64 slice CT) was used to perform CT KUB. Every patient who presented with renal colic gave their written informed permission. All data and information, were kept private. Throughout the trial, patients' identities were kept anonymous. This study was carried out in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki (Case# 87/ERC/CMH/LMC) and the ethical guidelines established by the CMH LMC and IOD ethical committees. Participants in the study had their rights upheld. Prior to examination, each patient gave their assent. Data were collected from the Diagnostic Center at CMH, Lahore, using CT KUB reports of patients with renal colic and a standardized proforma. Pain was assessed using the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and categorized as mild (1-3), moderate (4-6), and severe (7-10). In order to identify and measure ureteric calculi, with an emphasis on subcentimeter stones, patients received plain CT KUB in a supine posture with their arms up. This procedure involved many slices. Stones were classified according to size as subcentimeter or larger. IBM SPSS version 26.0 was used to analyze the data, and both qualitative and quantitative descriptive statistics were calculated at a 95% confidence interval (p < 0.05). For comparisons of gender and age aroups, the Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used, while the Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests were used as normality checks.

# RESULTS

This study was conducted among 266 patients presenting with renal colic. The results shows the age of patients, pain intensity, frequency of ureteric calculi, their sizes and locations. The data were analyzed using basic statistical methods. Table 1 shows the majority of participants were male (59.8%), while females accounted for 40.2%. Age groups ranged widely, with the highest proportion of participants (35.7%) aged between 20–35 years, followed by those aged 51–65 years (31.6%). The patients were 43.42 years old on average, with a standard deviation of 15.017.

**Table 1:** Demographics Characteristics of Study Population (n =266)

Characteristics	Categories (Mean ± SD)	Frequency (%)	
Gender	Male	159(59.8%)	
Gender	Male         159 (59)           Female         107 (40)           <20	107(40.2%)	
	<20	4(1.5%)	
	20-35	95(35.7%)	
Age Group of Patient (Years)	36-50	64(24.1%)	
(16013)	51-65	84(31.6%)	
	>65	19(7.1%)	
Age of patients (Years)	43.42 ± 15.017		

Figure 1 shows the presence of ureteric calculi in patients. In 207 (77.8%) patients' ureteric calculi is present and in 59 (22.2%) patients' ureteric calculi is absent.





Figure 1: Presence of Ureteric Calculi in Patients

Table 2 shows the most common sites were the absence of calculi (22.2%), right renal calculi (21.8%), and left renal calculi (18.4%), with less frequent occurrences in other locations, such as right PUJ (4.1%) and bilateral ureteric calculus (0.4%). The majority of patients had one calculus (42.1%), followed by three or more calculi (22.6%), while 22.2% had no calculi detected. Regarding size, subcentimeter calculi were the most prevalent category (60.9%), with 16.9% categorized as above subcentimeter and 22.19% showing no calculi.

**Table 2:** Frequency Distribution of Ureteric Calculi by Site,

 Number, and Size Category among the Study Population (n = 266)

Characteristics	Categories	Frequency (%)
	No Calculus	59(22.2%)
	Left Renal Calculus	49(18.4%)
	Right Renal Calculus	58(21.8%)
	Left Ureteric Calculus	19(7.1%)
	Right Ureteric Calculus	30 (11.3%)
Site of Ureteric Calculi	Left PUJ	1(0.4%)
	Right PUJ	11(4.1%)
	Left VUJ	14 (5.3%)
	Right VUJ	15(5.6%)
	Bilateral Renal Calculus	9(3.4%)
	Bilateral Ureteric Calculus	1(0.4%)
	0	59(22.2%)
Number of	1	112 (42.1%)
Ureteric Calculi	2	35(13.2%)
	3 or above	60(22.6%)
	Absent	59(22.19%)
Ureteric Calculi Category	Subcentimeter	162(60.9%)
	Above Subcentimeter	45(16.9%)

Figure 2 shows ureteric calculi categories as 162(60.9%) patients had subcentimeter calculi, while 59(22.19%) had no ureteric calculi. Furthermore, 45 people (16.9%) had calculi that were above centimeter.



**Figure 2:** The distribution of Ureteric Calculi Shows a Significant Prevalence of different Categories

Figure 3 displays the size of ureteric calculi in individuals with renal colic on CT KUB by age group. The majority of stones are subcentimeter, while some larger ones are occasionally observed, particularly in the age ranges of 20–35 and 51–65. With a p-value of 0.141 from the Kruskal-Wallis test, there appears to be no discernible variation in stone size among age groups.

Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test



Figure 3: Association of the Size of Ureteric Calculi across different Age Groups

Figure 4 displays the outcomes of the Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test. The mean rank of 107 girls in the sample is slightly higher (143.34) than that of 159 males (126.88). In contrast to female calculi, which are more likely to be smaller (1.0–2.0 cm), male calculi are more likely to be larger (2.0–3.0 cm). The level of significance is set at 0.050. The size of ureteric calculi does not differ statistically significantly across genders, according to the derived p-value of 0.085.



Figure 4: Association of Ureteric Calculi Size across Gender Categories

#### DISCUSSION

The current study reveals that the majority of 95 patients are between the ages of 20 and 35 years old (37.5%) as the age range of patients was 18-71 years old. The age group of 51-65 years old (31.6%), which has 85 patients, comes next. The age group of 36-50 years old (26.1%), which has 64 patients, comes next. According to this distribution, there are more patients in the younger age groups, especially those between 20 and 35. The distribution of patients by gender was the majority of 59.8% are (159) male and 40.2% are (107) female. These findings align with previous research, Chand RB et al., was study conducted in June 2013. Gender and stone location outcome indicators were used in the prospective analysis of the data. The male to female ratio was 1.35:1, with 138 of the 240 cases being male and 102 being female. They were 9 to 83 years old. 187 patients, or 71.9% of the 240 total, were in the productive age range of 20 to 60 years. There were 345 urinary calculi in all, 208 of which were discovered in male patients and 137 in female patients. Six of the 345 calculi were in the bladder, 237 were renal stones, 47 were ureteric stones, 22 were in the Pelviureteric Junction (PUJ), and 33 were in the Vesicoureteric Junction (VUJ) [10]. The current research data show that these calculi are most frequently found in the size range of 0.3 to 0.4 cm, high frequency in this group. Most of the calculi are subcentimeter, and varying frequencies have been found in 0.1-0.2 cm and 0.2-0.3 cm size ranges. Furthermore, although their precise frequency surpasses the size of the chart, there are calculi greater than 1 cm. Medical practitioners can use this information to help choose the best course of therapy because it helps them understand the normal diameters of ureteric calculi. The study of Jeevaraman S et al., in 2016 revealed some relative results in India. The age group of 21 to 49 years old had the highest incidence of ureteric calculi (60%) among the 100 participants in the research. The biggest stone measured 13 mm. For 39 in patients (39%) medical management was used. 18 patients had stones that were no larger than 5 mm. smallest stone was 4mm shown in study. Forty of the 41 patients who had retrograde ureteroscopy had their stones successfully removed. 21 patients (21%) had ureterolithotomy and pyelolithotomy, two open surgical procedures [11]. The current study demonstrates that there is a considerable variance in the frequency distribution of ureteric calculi across different urinary tract sites. Of the patients, the majority, 112 people (41.3%), had one ureteric calculus, whereas 59 people (21.8%) have none. Furthermore, 60 patients (22.5%) had three or more calculi, while 35 patients (13.6%) had two calculi. According to this data, instances with one ureteric calculus are the most common presentation, followed by those with three or more calculi. While the study performed by Yap WW et al., in 2014, 201 patients' 203 ureteric calculi were examined. Scout radiography's total sensitivity was 42.3% for Observer A and 52.2% for Observer B, with an interobserver reliability ĸ-value of 0.78. Two groups of patients with and without visible stones were compared in terms of mean Hounsfield units and size; both variables had p-values less than 0.0001, which indicates statistical significance. The study found that calculi larger than 4 mm in the upper ureter are more likely to be visible on scout radiography [12]. In emergency urological care, the assessment of renal colic is still crucial, and imaging is essential for both diagnosis and therapy planning. The gold standard for identifying ureteric calculi, particularly those smaller than 1 cm, is non-contrast computed tomography of the kidneys, ureters, and bladder (CT KUB). When compared to traditional imaging, Chowdhury FU et al., showed that unenhanced multidetector CT offers high sensitivity and specificity for the identification of ureteric stones, greatly increasing the diagnostic accuracy in cases with acute renal colic [1]. Similarly, Ekici and Sinanoglu, found that CT significantly outperformed combined ultrasonography and radiography in stone detection and localization[2]. The timeliness and efficacy of CT KUB have also been explored. Rekant EM et al., and Haddad MC et al., emphasized that CT not only reduces the time to diagnosis but also improves outcomes by facilitating prompt treatment decisions [3, 4]. According to Huang CC et al.,'s investigation, subcentimeter ureteric stones are still not very visible on scout radiographs, which supports CT's position as the preferred imaging modality [5]. The growing dependence on sophisticated imaging techniques like CT is further highlighted by recent epidemiological changes in the treatment of urinary tract calculi, as documented by Ghani KR et al [6]. Additionally, studies like that of Itanyi UD et al., offer anatomical insights, such as ureteric diameter measurements on CT, which aid in predicting stone

passage and potential obstruction [7]. Technological advancements, including reformatted and low-dose CT protocols, have improved the detection rates for subcentimeter stones, as supported by Sommer FG et al [8]. This is particularly relevant in younger patients and recurrent stone formers, where radiation exposure is a concern. Several large-cohort studies have investigated the most common sites of stone impaction. Chand RB et al., and Jeevaraman S et al., observed that the Ureterovesical Junction (UVJ) and Pelviureteric Junction (PUJ) are frequent sites for smaller stone lodging [10, 11]. These findings support the use of focused CT assessments in suspected cases of distal obstruction. Newer literature supports the scout radiograph's limited sensitivity, as explored by Yap WW et al., who concluded that CT should not be replaced by KUB radiographs, especially when evaluating small-caliber stones [12]. Meanwhile, Brisbane W et al., and Dyer RB et al., further refined the classification of stone visibility and its relation to size, density, and location [13, 14]. The advent of risk stratification models and clinical scoring tools, such as those developed by Smith RC et al., provide a framework to guide clinicians in selecting patients who may benefit from early CT KUB imaging [15]. Additionally, Miller and Kane's work on timeto-stone passage in observation cases supports CT findings as predictors for spontaneous expulsion [16]. Catalano and Dalrymple expanded on the diagnostic capabilities of CT urography in characterizing urinary tract anatomy and pathology, reinforcing CT's multifunctional diagnostic role [17, 18]. Lastly, there is strong evidence that CT is more accurate than IVU, especially for patients with subcentimeter calculi and non-classic presentations of renal colic, according to Vieweg J et al., and Smith RC et al. [19,20].

# CONCLUSIONS

The location of subcentimeter ureteric stones and pain levels in patients with renal colic are described in this study on the identification of ureteric calculi in patients presenting with renal colic on CT KUB. The findings mostly seen in middle aged male patients with intermittent pain, right and left renal calculus were the most common sites and subcentimeter ureteric calculi were frequently observed category. Also describes the other findings like hydronephrosis, cyst, and peripheral fat. Multi-center research can enhance the quality of data in ureteric calculi studies by increasing the sample size. Future studies should control for confounding factors like chronic kidney disease and renal parenchymal disease to ensure more accurate results.

#### Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: TT, ZS Methodology: TT, ZS, YK, AR, AA Formal analysis: TT, ZS, YK, AR Writing, review and editing: TT, ZS, YK, AR

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

#### Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

#### REFERENCES

- Chowdhury FU, Kotwal S, Raghunathan G, Wah TM, Joyce A, Irving HC. Unenhanced multidetector CT(CT KUB) in the initial imaging of suspected acute renal colic: evaluating a new service. Clinical Radiology. 2007 Oct; 62(10): 970-7. doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2007.04.0 16.
- [2] Ekici S and Sinanoglu O. Comparison of conventional radiography combined with ultrasonography versus nonenhanced helical computed tomography in evaluation of patients with renal colic. Urological Research. 2012 Oct; 40: 543-7. doi: 10.1007/s00240-012-0460-8.
- [3] Rekant EM, Gibert CL, Counselman FL. Emergency department time for evaluation of patients discharged with a diagnosis of renal colic: unenhanced helical computed tomography versus intravenous urography. The Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2001 Nov; 21(4): 371-4. doi: 10.1016/S0736-4679(01)00376-6.
- [4] Haddad MC, Sharif HS, Shahed MS, Mutaiery MA, Samihan AM, Sammak BM et al. Renal colic: diagnosis and outcome. Radiology. 1992 Jul; 184(1): 83-8. doi: 10.1148/radiology.184.1.1609107.
- [5] Huang CC, Chuang CK, Wong YC, Wang LJ, Wu CH. Useful prediction of ureteral calculi visibility on abdominal radiographs based on calculi characteristics on unenhanced helical CT and CT scout radiographs. International Journal of Clinical Practice. 2009 Feb; 63(2): 292-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2008.01861.x.
- [6] Ghani KR, Sammon JD, Karakiewicz PI, Sun M, Bhojani N, Sukumar S et al. Trends in surgery for upper urinary tract calculi in the USA using the Nationwide Inpatient Sample: 1999-2009. Bob Jones University International. 2013 Jul; 112(2). doi: 10.1111/bju.12059.
- [7] Itanyi UD, Aiyekomogbon JO, Uduma FU, Evinemi MA. Assessment of ureteric diameter using contrastenhanced helical abdominal computed tomography.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1224

African Journal of Urology. 2020 Dec; 26: 1-5. doi: 10.1 186/s12301-020-00021-0.

- [8] Sommer FG, Jeffrey Jr RB, Rubin GD, Napel S, Rimmer SA, Benford J et al. Detection of ureteral calculi in patients with suspected renal colic: value of reformatted noncontrast helical CT. AJR. American Journal of Roentgenology. 1995 Sep; 165(3): 509-13. doi: 10.2214/ajr.165.3.7645461.
- [9] Cochran WG. Sampling Techniques. John wiley & sons; 1977.
- [10] Chand RB, Shah AK, Pant DK, Paudel S. Common site of urinary calculi in kidney, ureter and bladder region. Nepal Medical College Journal. 2013 Mar; 15(1): 5-7.
- [11] Jeevaraman S, Selvaraj J, Niyamathullah NM. A study on ureteric calculi. Journal of International Medical Research. 2016 Oct; 3(10): 2969-72.
- [12] Yap WW, Belfield JC, Bhatnagar P, Kennish S, Wah TM. Evaluation of the sensitivity of scout radiographs on unenhanced helical CT in identifying ureteric calculi: a large UK tertiary referral centre experience. The British Journal of Radiology. 2012 Jun; 85(1014): 800-6. doi: 10.1259/bjr/64356303.
- [13] Dyer RB, Chen MY, Zagoria RJ. Abnormal calcifications in the urinary tract. Radiographics. 1998 Nov-Dec; 18(6): 1405-24. doi: 10.1148/radiographics.18.6.9821191.
- [14] Brisbane W, Bailey MR, Sorensen MD. An overview of kidney stone imaging techniques. Nature Reviews Urology. 2016 Nov; 13(11): 654–62. doi: 10.1038/nrurol. 2016.154.
- [15] Smith RC, Verga M, McCarthy S, Rosenfield AT. Diagnosis of acute flank pain: value of unenhanced helical CT. American Journal of Roentgenology. 1996 May; 166(5): 97–101. doi: 10.2214/ajr.166.5.8610553.
- [16] Miller OF and Kane CJ. Time to stone passage for observed ureteral calculi: a guide for patient education. Journal of Urology. 1999 Mar; 161(3): 920-2. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(01)63865-3.
- [17] Catalano O. Computed tomography urography: an overview. European Radiology. 2001 Jan; 11(2): 355-65.doi:10.1007/s003300000598.
- [18] Dalrymple NC, Verga M, Anderson KR, Bove P, Covey AM, Rosenfield AT *et al.* The value of unenhanced helical computerized tomography in the management of acute flank pain. Journal of Urology. 1998 Mar; 159(3): 735-40. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(01)63713-1.
- [19] Vieweg J, Teh C, Freed K, Leder RA, Smith RH, Nelson RH. Unenhanced helical computerized tomography for the evaluation of patients with acute flank pain. Journal of Urology. 1998 Mar; 159(3): 735-40. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(01)63713-1.
- [20] Smith RC, Rosenfield AT, Choe KA, et al. Acute flank pain: comparison of non-contrast-enhanced CT and

intravenous urography. Radiology. 1995 Apr; 194(1): 789-94. doi: 10.1148/radiology.194.3.7862995.



# PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)** 



#### **Original Article**

Detection of Uterine Fibroids Through Ultrasound Among Women of Reproductive Age Presenting with Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in A Tertiary Care Hospital

Areeba Rizwan<sup>1</sup>, Khadija Tul Kubra<sup>1</sup>, Zobia Saleem<sup>1°</sup>, Asim Raza<sup>1</sup>, Yasser Khan<sup>1</sup>, Sidra Saleem<sup>1</sup> and Adeeba Anwaar<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Allied Health Sciences, Combined Military Hospital, Lahore Medical College and Institute of Dentistry, Lahore, Pakistan

## ARTICLE INFO

#### Keywords:

Abnormal Uterine Bleeding, Fibroids, Heavy Menstrual Bleeding, Reproductive Age

#### How to Cite:

Rizwan, A., Kubra, K. T., Saleem, Z., Raza, A., Khan, Y., Saleem, S., & Anwar, A. (2025). Detection of Uterine Fibroids Through Ultrasound Among Women of Reproductive Age Presenting with Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in A Tertiary Care Hospital: Uterine Fibroids Among Women of Reproductive Age Presenting with AUB. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 17-21. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1226

#### \*Corresponding Author:

Zobia Saleem

School of Allied Health Sciences, Combined Military Hospital, Lahore Medical College and Institute of Dentistry, Lahore, Pakistan zobiasaleem95.work@gmail.com

Received date:  $23^{rd}$  February, 2025 Revised date:  $1^{st}$  April, 2025 Acceptance date:  $11^{th}$  April, 2025 Published date:  $30^{th}$  April, 2025

# ABSTRACT

Fibroids are the leading cause of abnormal uterine bleeding (AUB). Objective: To detect uterine fibroids through ultrasound among women of reproductive age presenting with abnormal uterine bleeding in a tertiary care hospital. Methods: This descriptive cross-sectional study was conducted at the Diagnostic Center of Combined Military Hospital (CMH) Lahore. Data were collected from 200 women of reproductive age (15-49 years) with AUB. Women with adenomyosis, endometrial polyps, endometriosis and other gynecological problems were excluded. A consecutive non-probability sampling method was employed, and data were analyzed using IBM SPSS version 26.0. The chi-square test was applied for the comparison of categories. Results: The Average age of participants was 29.50 ± 8.32 years. From the participants with fibroids, common symptoms included pelvic pain (47%), back pain (46%), frequent urination (39%), and painful bleeding (68%). Out of the total, 53.5% had bleeding from other causes, and 46.50% had fibroids. Out of all participants, 46% had one fibroid, 0.5% had multiple fibroids, and 53.5% had none at all. There were 21.5% posterior wall fibroids and 25% anterior wall fibroids. Of the fibroids, 39.5% were hyperechoic and 7% were hypoechoic. The majority of fibroids 37.5% did not cause any distortion of the endometrial cavity. The endometrial thickness was normal in 84% of patients and increased in 32%. Conclusions: It was concluded that uterine fibroids were a common cause of AUB in women of reproductive age, with a significant proportion of cases presenting with symptoms such as pelvic pain, painful  $bleeding \, and \, frequent \, urination.$ 

# INTRODUCTION

Uterine fibroids are common, non-cancerous growths in the uterus. While some forms may show characteristics similar to malignant tumors, they are generally classified as benign [1]. When fibroids are suspected, the first diagnostic tool used is usually ultrasonography (USG). This method has a high sensitivity for detecting these tumors and can be performed either by transvaginal (TVS) or transabdominal (TAS) scanning [2]. The different types of fibroids based on their location include: 1. Intramural fibroids, growing within the uterine wall, distorting the cavity or outer surface, 2. Submucosal fibroids, arising just beneath the uterine lining, protruding into the uterus, 3. Subserosal fibroids develop from the outer layer of the uterus, and cervical fibroids, which are located in the cervix rather than the main body of the uterus [3]. Fibroids result in heavy menstrual bleeding and painful periods can also cause pelvic pain not related to menstruation, bloating, frequent urination, and digestive disturbances [4]. Hormonal contraceptives and NSAIDs are among the treatment options for fibroids. Surgical options include hysterectomy, myomectomy, or uterine artery embolization [5]. Women of reproductive age make up 75% of this population with uterine fibroids, translating to millions around the globe [6]. Abnormal uterine bleeding

describes irregularities in timing, volume, frequency, and consistency regarding uterine origin; it is any deviation from normal patterns of menstrual bleeding [7]. Menstrual flow is determined by factors involving vascular tone, hemostatic function, and uterine contractions. Normal menstrual bleeding occurs within 4.5 to 8 days and 24 to 38 days concerning cycles and amounts to blood loss of 5 to 80 milliliters per cycle. The research definition for heavy menstrual bleeding is blood loss over 80 milliliters per cycle; a specific amount that may be tolerated before dangerous iron deficiency anemia occurs due HMB [8]. Medical treatments for AUB include NSAIDs, antifibrinolytics, and birth control pills. Surgical options include myomectomy, uterine fibroid embolization, hysterectomy, and endometrial ablation [9]. HMB is considered a type of AUB and is a serious clinical concern that impacts a sizable portion of women who are of reproductive age. The exact relationship between AUB and fibroids remains unclear, although fibroids are frequently found in women who experience AUB [10]. Previous research had predominantly concentrated on exploring the etiologies, diagnostic approaches, and therapeutic interventions for abnormal uterine bleeding (AUB) and uterine fibroids. The current study, however, aimed to explore the connection between AUB (Abnormal Uterine Bleeding) and uterine fibroids, with a focus on detailed patient clinical presentations and comprehensive ultrasound findings of fibroids, seeking to better understand the relationship between these two conditions.

This study aims to detect uterine fibroids through ultrasound among women of reproductive age presenting with abnormal uterine bleeding in a tertiary care hospital.

# METHODS

This descriptive cross-sectional study was conducted at the Diagnostic Center of CMH Lahore between September and December 2024. Data were collected from 200 women of reproductive age (15-49 years) [11] presenting with AUB. The sample size was calculated through the WHO Geneva Calculator. The prevalence of fibroids was found to be 45.63% in 103 patients [12]. The following Cochran formula was used to calculate the sample size [13]. n=z21-aP(1-P)/d2. Z-value=1.96 at 95% confidence level ( $\alpha$ ), anticipated population proportion (P)=0.4563, absolute precision required (d) = 0.07 and sample size (n) = 195. But data were collected from 200 patients who were selected through a non-probability consecutive sampling technique. Women of reproductive age (15-49 years) who presented with abnormal uterine bleeding and were non-pregnant were included in the study [11]. However, women with gynecological conditions such as adenomyosis, endometrial polyps, and endometriosis were excluded.

Ultrasound machine, Toshiba Xario with curvilinear transducer of 3-5 MHz frequency was used to carried out this research. The study was conducted at the diagnostic center of the Combined Military Hospital after ethical approval. Patients meeting the inclusion and exclusion criteria were enrolled and assessed for associated symptoms such as back pain, pelvic pain, frequent urination, and painful bleeding. Ultrasound imaging was performed using a curvilinear transducer (3-5 MHz) in the supine position, with transverse and sagittal planes used for evaluation. Key parameters recorded included the presence, number, location, and echogenicity of fibroids, as well as endometrial thickness and cavity distortion. Data were collected using a structured proforma and ultrasound reports. Written and verbal consent was taken from eligible participants. All information and data collection were kept confidential. Participants remained anonymous throughout the study. This study was conducted in line with ethical standards set by the ethical committee of CMH LMC and the Institute of Dentistry (IOD) (Ref Case #79/ERC/CMH/ LMC. The terms of the Declaration of Helsinki were followed in the conduct of this investigation. Data analysis was done with IBM SPSS version 26.0. Descriptive statistics included frequencies, percentages, mean, and standard deviation, while inferential analysis was conducted using the Chisquare test to compare the frequencies. A p-value≤0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

The current study included 200 women of reproductive age presenting with abnormal uterine bleeding and aimed to determine the prevalence of fibroids detected through ultrasound, which are presented in table 1.

**Table 1:** Demographic Characteristics of Study Population(n=200)

Characteristics	Categories	n (%)	
	15-19	24(12%)	
	20-24	40(20%)	
Age Groups of	25-29	49(24.50%)	
Participants	30-34	28(14%)	
(Years)	35-39	30(15%)	
	40-44	18 (9%)	
	45-49	11(5.50%)	
Age of Patients (Years), Mean ± SD	29.50 ± 8.332		
Marital Status of	Unmarried	78(39%)	
Patients	Married	122(61%)	

12% lied in the 15-19 years' age group, 20% lied in the 20-24 years' age group, 24.5% lied in the 25-29 years age group, 14% lied in the 30-34 years age group, 15% lied in the 35-39 years age group, 9% lied in the 40-44 years age group, and 5.5% lied in the 45-49 years age group. The mean ± SD of the study participants were 29.50 ± 8.32 years. Additionally, it showed that of the 200 patients, 61% were married and 39% were unmarried. The demographic information of the study population, which included women of reproductive age (15–49 years), is shown in table 2.

**Table 2:** Frequency of Fibroids in Patients Diagnosed OnUltrasound

Variables	iables Present					
n (%)						
Fibroids 93 (46.50%) 107 (53.5%						
Total	200(100%)					

68% of patients reported painful bleeding, 47% pelvic pain, 46% back pain, and 39% frequent urination. The clinical presentation of patients with fibroids was depicted in figure 1.



**Figure 1:** Frequency Distribution of Clinical Presentation of Patients with Fibroids

Out of the 200 patients, 46.5% had fibroids, while the remaining 53.5% had other reasons for their abnormal bleeding. 53.5% of cases had no fibroids, 46% had single fibroids, and only 0.5% had multiple fibroids. Of the fibroids that were found, 21.5% were on the posterior wall and 25% were on the anterior wall. Furthermore, 39.5% of the fibroids were hyperechoic and 7% were hypoechoic. 37.5% of fibroids did not result in any distortion of the endometrial cavity, while only 9% did. 32% of patients had increased endometrial thickness, whereas 84% of patients had normal endometrial thickness. Ultrasound results are shown in table 3.

**Table 3:** Ultrasound Findings in Patients with Abnormal Uterine

 Bleeding

Ultrasound Findings	Variables	n (%)
	Not Found	107(53.5%)
Number of Fibroids	Single	92(46%)
	Multiple	1(0.5%)
	Not Applicable	107(53.5%)
Location of Fibroids	Anterior Wall	50(25%)
	Posterior Wall	43 (21.5%)
	Not Applicable	107(53.5%)
Echogenicity	Hypoechoic	14(7%)
	Hyperechoic	79(39.5%)

Out of those who did not experience painful bleeding, 24 (25.8%) had fibroids and 40 (37.4%) did not. Of those who experienced excruciating bleeding, 69(74.2%) had fibroids and 67(62.6%) did not. 3.064 is the Chi-Square value, and 0.080 is the p-value. The correlation between the fibroids and painful bleeding is displayed in Table 4.

**Table 4:** Association Between Painful Bleeding and the Presenceof Fibroids

Painful	Fibroids Absent	Fibroids Present	Total	Chi-	p-
Bleeding		n (%)		Square Value	Value
No	40(37.4%)	24(25.8%)	64(32%)		
Yes	67(62.6%)	69(74.2%)	136(68%)	3.064	0.08
Total	107(100%)	93 (100%)	200(100%)		

Out of those who did not experience pelvic pain, 44(47.3%) had fibroids and 62(57.9%) did not. Of those who experienced pelvic pain, 49(52.7%) had fibroids, while 45(42.1%) did not. 2.258 was the Chi-Square value, and 0.133 was the p-value. The correlation between pelvic pain and fibroids is displayed in table 5.

**Table 5:** Association Between Pelvic Pain and the Presence of

 Fibroids

Pelvic	Fibroids Absent	Fibroids Present	Total	Chi-	p-
Pain		n (%)		Square Value	Value
No	62 (57.9%)	44(47.3%)	106(53%)		
Yes	45(42.1%)	49(52.7%)	94(47%)	2.258	0.133
Total	107(100%)	93 (100%)	200(100%)		

#### DISCUSSION

Uterine fibroids are one of the main causes of abnormal uterine bleeding, a common symptom which usually results from underlying problems [14-16]. Because fibroids frequently result in abundant, irregular or unusual bleeding patterns, there is a significant relationship between abnormal uterine bleeding and fibroids. When a patient present with AUB, ultrasound is a useful diagnostic method for diagnosing fibroids [17, 18]. Hanan et al., study examined uterine fibroid prevalence in young females using FMH radiology data. Of 55 patients, 43 (78.18%) had fibroids, characterized by prolonged heavy bleeding and severe pelvic pain, while 12(21.81%) showed no signs. Fibroids were more common in those with irregular, prolonged menstrual flow. In the current study of 200 patients with abnormal uterine bleeding, 46.5% had fibroids, while 53.5% had other causes. It also found that 68% of fibroid patients had painful bleeding, 47% pelvic pain, 46% back pain, and 39% frequent urination. Unlike Hanan et al.'s study, which

focused on young females with pelvic pain and heavy bleeding, this study included a larger sample and additional symptoms. Both studies confirmed the strong link between fibroids and abnormal bleeding, especially heavy menstrual flow [9]. Menorrhagia was the most common symptom, affecting 54.2% of participants in the study. The next most common symptoms were infertility, dysmenorrhea, metrorrhagia, and abdominal pain. Most fibroids were intramural, with the fundo-anterior region being the most common site. Similarly, in the current study of 200 women with abnormal uterine bleeding, 46.5% had fibroids. The most common symptoms were painful bleeding (68%), pelvic pain (47%), back pain (46%), and frequent urination (39%). While both studies identified abnormal uterine bleeding as the most prevalent symptom, the current study revealed a broader range of symptoms, including pelvic and back pain. It also found single fibroids (46%) primarily in the anterior and posterior walls, with the largest fibroids in these regions. While Samanta et al., focused on the fundo-anterior position and fibroid size, the current study provided more detailed ultrasound findings, detecting both single and multiple fibroids and their potential to distort the endometrial cavity. Both studies highlighted the impact of fibroids on guality of life, particularly due to abnormal uterine bleeding [19, 20].

# CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that the current study was about the detection of uterine fibroids through ultrasound among women of reproductive age presenting with abnormal uterine bleeding. It found that nearly half of the population had fibroids. This study highlighted the significance of ultrasound as the first diagnostic tool and provided insightful information about the characteristics and symptoms of fibroids.

# Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: YK, SS Methodology: AR<sup>1</sup>, KTK, ZS, AR<sup>2</sup> Formal analysis: AR<sup>2</sup> Writing review and editing: ZS, AA

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

# Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

## Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

#### REFERENCES

- MacGregor R, Jain V, Hillman S, Lumsden MA. Investigating Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in Reproductive Aged Women. British Medical Journal. 2022 Sep; 378. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2022-070906.
- [2] Hill S and Shetty MK. Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in Reproductive Age Women: Role of Imaging in the Diagnosis and Management. In Seminars in Ultrasound, Computed Tomography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2023 Dec; 44(6): 511-518. doi: 10.1053/j.sult.2023.10.002.
- [3] Stewart EA, Laughlin-Tommaso SK, Levine D. Uterine Fibroids (Leiomyomas): Epidemiology, Clinical Features, Diagnosis, and Natural History. Up to Date. 2019 Mar; 22.
- [4] Gerema U, Kene K, Abera D, Adugna T, Nigussie M, Dereje D, Mulugeta T. Abnormal Uterine Bleeding and Associated Factors Among Reproductive Age Women in Jimma Town, Oromia Region, Southwest Ethiopia. Women's Health. 2022 Feb; 18: 17455057221077577. doi: 10.1177/17455057221077577.
- [5] Zhang L, Xu F, Huang Y, Xu W, Pu Y, Chen K et al. Epidemiological Features of Uterine Fibroid-Associated Imaging Changes in Chinese Women of Reproductive Age: A Retrospective Study. BioMed Journal Open. 2025 Jan; 15(1): e085671.
- [6] Uimari O, Subramaniam KS, Vollenhoven B, Tapmeier TT. Uterine Fibroids (Leiomyomata) and Heavy Menstrual Bleeding. Frontiers in Reproductive Health. 2022 Mar; 4: 818243. doi: 10.3389/frph.2022. 818243.
- [7] Elmaoğulları S and Aycan Z. Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in Adolescents. Journal of Clinical Research in Pediatric Endocrinology. 2018 Jul; 10(3): 191. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.0014.
- [8] Tsakiridis I, Giouleka S, Koutsouki G, Kostakis N, Kalogiannidis I, Kourtis A et al. Investigation and Management of Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in Reproductive-Aged Women: A Descriptive Review of National and International Recommendations. The European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care. 2022 Nov; 27(6): 504-17. doi: 10.1080/13625187.2022.2112169.
- [9] Hanan SD, Sandhu AA, Badar R. Frequency of Uterine Fibroids between the Age 20 to 40 Years on Ultrasound at FMH. Pakistan Journal of Allied Health Sciences. 2024 Jan; 2(1): 1–0.
- [10] Ahmad A, Kumar M, Bhoi NR, Akhtar J, Khan MI, Ajmal M et al. Diagnosis and Management of Uterine Fibroids: Current Trends and Future Strategies. Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology. 2023 May; 34(3): 291-310. doi: 10.1515/jbcpp-2022-0219.

- [11] Paulinus SO, Ukpong EV, Archibong BE, Ijever AW, Usani UE, Archibong SE et al. Ultrasound Evaluation of Uterine Fibroids Among Women of Childbearing Age: A Single Centre Study in Port Harcourt Metropolis. Global Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences. 2024 Aug;30(3): 351-7.
- [12] Talukdar B and Mahela S. Abnormal Uterine Bleeding in Perimenopausal Women: Correlation with Sonographic Findings and Histopathological Examination of Hysterectomy Specimens. Journal of Mid-Life Health. 2016 Apr; 7(2): 73-7. doi: 10.4103/097 6-7800.185336.
- [13] Qing S and Valliant R. Extending Cochran's Sample Size Rule to Stratified Simple Random Sampling with Applications to Audit Sampling. Journal of Official Statistics. 2025 Mar; 41(1): 309-28. doi: 10.1177/02824 23X241277054.
- [14] Almuhaitb RA, Alenazi RH, Almebki RA, Alshehri RA, Alemad MM, AlHarbi JM et al. Management of Abnormal Uterine Bleeding Among Reproductive Age Group Women: A Cross-Sectional Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2024 Nov; 13(23): 7086. doi: 10.339 0/jcm13237086.
- [15] Edzie EK, Dzefi-Tettey K, Brakohiapa EK, Quarshie F, Ken-Amoah S, Cudjoe O et al. Age of First Diagnosis and Incidence Rate of Uterine Fibroids in Ghana. A Retrospective Cohort Study. PLoS One. 2023 Mar; 18(3): e0283201. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0283201.
- [16] Nguyen PN. Combination of B-Mode Ultrasound and Doppler Ultrasound in Approaching Uterine Intracavitary Pathologies Among Women Above 40 Years with Abnormal Uterine Bleeding: A Multicenter-Based Study from Vietnam. Journal of Mid-life Health. 2022 Sep; 13(2): 145. doi: 10.4103/jmh.jmh\_93 \_22.
- [17] Viganò S, Smedile A, Cazzella C, Marra P, Bonaffini PA, Sironi S. Abnormal Uterine Bleeding: A Pictorial Review On Differential Diagnosis and Not-So-Common Cases of Interventional Radiology Management. Diagnostics. 2024 Apr; 14(8): 798. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics14080798.
- [18] Rasekh Jahromi A, Ebadat H, Jokar M, Taghipour N, Rahmanian V. Optimal Timing of Transvaginal Ultrasound to Diagnose Endometrial Polyps in Women with Abnormal Uterine Bleeding. The Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of India. 2024 Jun: 1-8. doi: 10.1007/s13224-024-01993-7.
- [19] Vannuccini S, Petraglia F, Carmona F, Calaf J, Chapron C. The Modern Management of Uterine Fibroids-Related Abnormal Uterine Bleeding. Fertility and Sterility. 2024 May. doi: 10.1016/j.fertn stert.2024.04.041.
- [20] Samanta S, Dutta S, Samanta S, Mullick A. An Observational Study on Uterine Myoma in Search of

Factors Contributing to Its Symptoms. Journal of Contemporary Medical Research. 2019; 6(1): A1-4. doi:10.21276/ijcmr.2019.6.1.6.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1226

# lip

# PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798, (P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)

## **Original Article**

# Quality of Life among Individuals with HIV in Lahore: The Role of Resilience

ABSTRACT

#### Mansoor Ahmed<sup>1</sup>, Abia Nazim<sup>1</sup> and Hephsibah Younis<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychology, Forman Christian College (A Chartered University), Lahore, Pakistan

# ARTICLE INFO

#### Keywords:

Resilience, Quality of Life, HIV, Income

#### How to Cite:

Ahmed, M., Nazim, A., & Younis, H. (2025). Quality of Life among Individuals with HIV in Lahore: The Role of Resilience: Quality of Life with HIV in Lahore Population: Resilience Role. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 22-28. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj. v8i4.1223

#### \*Corresponding Author:

Mansoor Ahmed Department of Psychology, Forman Christian College (A Chartered University), Lahore, Pakistan aliexcise@gmail.com

Received date:  $8^{th}$  March, 2025 Revised date:  $23^{rd}$  April, 2025 Acceptance date:  $26^{th}$  April, 2025 Published date:  $30^{th}$  April, 2025

# INTRODUCTION

Around 4000 young individuals in many parts of the world are infected with HIV every day, 40% of all new cases are among young people aged 15-24 years [1]. In some communities, the reaction to the HIV pandemic has demonstrated remarkable resilience in adverse times, which has helped prevent the worst effects. The process of adopting positivity within any given environment is known as resilience. In addition, resilience is the result of an individual's attitudes, beliefs, and abilities taken together, allowing them to remain resilient in the face of adversity. A balance of risk and protective factors is what determines resilience in individuals [2]. It is ascertained that resilience has a genetic or biological element [3]. However, resilience is not one characteristic of personality [4]. It is associated with the outcomes of experiences in many environmental factors that contribute to resilience growth in individuals. Therefore, myriads of studies have supported that

resilience is strengthened through psychosocial support [5], psychological adjustment [6], coping abilities [7], and personal belief [8]. According to the resilience theory, the collaborative model of resilience, community contribution, family, and significant others assist in developing resilience among sufferers and can help support their psychological and physical health [9]. Resilience is reported as a buffer against stress among individuals with HIV and maintains health-related issues [10]. Numerous studies support that resilience is a term widely used for survivors to cope and adopt a healthy lifestyle. Also, Peccoralo et al., reported that resilience is a sufferer's capacity to bounce back from difficulties and move on with better Health [11]. QOL can be described as "mental, physical, role and social functioning, including relationships, and perception of health, fitness, life satisfaction, and well-being [12]. Therefore, an influential

Resilience is the ability to bounce back in difficult situations such as trauma, stress, and

adversity. Being diagnosed with Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is an extremely traumatic and stressful experience that can also lead to stigma and discrimination. **Objectives:** To find any

significant association between resilience and Quality of Life (QOL) among individuals with HIV.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted in Forman Christian College from June

2020 to December 2020. The participants were mainly selected from the 3 different HIV

rehabilitation centers based in Lahore (n=300) with age ranges from 18 to 65 years (Mean=32.7,

SD=7.93). Results: The findings of the study illustrate that there is a positive association

between resilience and QOL among individuals with HIV; Resilience is also positively associated

with demographic variables like income, education, and gender. Furthermore, study findings demonstrate that resilience predicts a direct positive effect on individuals with HIV's QOL.

**Conclusions:** It was concluded that by cultivating resilience, individuals with HIV can improve

their physical and mental health and effectively manage their illness.



and better QOL of individuals with HIV indicates the acceptance of the disease, establishment of a safe sexual relationship, medicine adherence, and even again start of routine life. Around .19 million sufferers are living with HIV in Pakistan in 2021, and 55% of sufferers are taking Antiretroviral therapy/medicine (ART) to fight the disease and adopt a healthy lifestyle. However, many factors can positively affect sufferers' QOL, like individuals' age, education, gender, living area, family systems, monthly income, marital status, regular taking of ART, and emotional and social support from significant others [13]. The power of Resilience can challenge epidemic diseases for any sufferer. Resilience is an actual positive weapon to resist against HIV infection among different age groups and genders. However, resilience plays a significant role in stopping the spread of HIV infections in others and helps them to live a balanced life. Although previous literature has explored resilience in individuals living with HIV, there was very little information regarding resilience with QOL among individuals with HIV. The study hypothesized that there was a positive association between resilience and QOL among individuals with HIV.

This study aims to explore any association between resilience and QOL among individuals with HIV. Also, to identify any demographic factors significant association that exists between resilience and sufferers'QOL.

#### METHODS

This cross-sectional study was conducted in Forman Christian College after getting an ethical approval letter (ref no IRB-233/06-2020). The study duration was from June 2020 to December 2020. This study adopted a nonparametric purposive sampling strategy to select the registered participants from three different renowned HIV rehabilitation centers in Lahore, Pakistan. All the selected participants were registered with The Punjab Aids Control Program Department (PACP) and had records of regularly taking ART. The sample size was comprised of 300 individuals with HIV based on the previous literature, with age ranges from 18 to 65 years (M=32.7, SD=7.93). Under inclusion criteria those participants were selected who were taking ART, already registered with PACP, had no history of substance abuse, and did not possess any other physical illness like Hepatitis B/C and Tuberculosis. A total of 498 participants participated in this research study, and only 300 participants met the inclusion criteria. A demographic questions sheet was used to collect general information like age, marital status, number of children, participants' education, profession, family monthly income, regularly taking ART, and any other physical disease like Hepatitis B/C and tuberculosis. The Adult Resilience Measure-Revised (ARM-R) tool was used to measure individuals with HIV resilience levels. The scale had 17 items, and it was a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = low to 5 = high. The test-retest reliability of ARM-R was 0.74, and Cronbach's alpha was 0.86 [14]. World Health Organisation-HIV Quality of Life (WHOQOL-HIV BREF) was used to assess the QOL of individuals with HIV. This scale had 31 items and a 5-point Likert scale from 1=strongly disagree to 5=strongly agree. WH0Q0L-HIV BREF had six different domains (physical, psychological, level of independence, social relationships, environment, and personal beliefs), and every domain had different items, like 4, 5, 4, 4, 8, and 4 statements, respectively. The testretest reliability in all 6 domains was 0.54, 0.77, 0.71, 0.76, 0.78, and .48, respectively [15]. Firstly, the pilot study was performed to ensure that the questionnaire items were conceptually simple and to rule out the average time taken to complete the questionnaires. For the piloting (n=5), respondents were selected. The study informed the participants, confidentiality and anonymity, and the expected findings. Furthermore, the participants were encouraged to provide feedback on whatever problems they faced or encountered during the administration. After the piloting, the primary study was carried out. Formal permission was taken from the Project Director of PACP to collect the data from the targeted participants without any hurdles. The written permission was submitted to all three heads of the PACP's HIV/AIDS rehabilitation centers. Also, verbally explained the study's significance to the Head of Department and other staff members of the PACP's selected rehabilitation centers. Furthermore, written and verbal informed consent were obtained and explained to the participants regarding the aim of the research study, its importance, the expected outcome, and participants' confidentiality. The data collection took almost four months to complete. Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to explore the data of 300 individuals with HIV. To begin, the psychometric properties of the study's measures were computed. Descriptive statistics were used to find out the frequencies and percentages of the study's supporting variables. Pearson product-moment correlation was run to explore the positive or negative association in resilience, QOL, education, gender, and family income. Finally, regression analysis was run to predict the resilience effect on QOL. The level of significance was set to below 0.05 for all analyses, which were all carried out using IBM SPSS version 23.0. To begin with, formal permission to conduct the research work was obtained from all concerned authorities. The authors of the assessment instruments were contacted via email for permission to use the original versions of the tools. Verbal and written permission were taken from both participants and informed participants, including research participation rights and withdraw their participation at any point without any reason. Moreover, the participants were informed about their privacy and confidentiality, and

informed that the data sheets of the data collection were saved and coded, due to which only the researcher and supervisor had access to confidential material. Debriefing of research was provided, and it was discussed with participants to seek psychological assistance just in case they experienced any emotional difficulty after filling out questionnaires. Also, two professional clinical psychologists were kept on board for this purpose.

## RESULTS

To analyze data, the psychometric properties of the study's measures were computed. The table illustrates the reliability analysis of the scales and their subscales that were used for the present study. The mean, standard deviation, and Cronbach's alpha reliability value were calculated. The first scale, Adult Resilience Measures-Revised scale (ARM-R), Cronbach's alpha reliability value was 0.76, which was a suitable reliability for the study. Lastly, the results also revealed that the WHO-HIV Quality of Life scale (WHOQOL-HIV BREF) comprised six subscales. The alpha values for the physical and personal beliefs subscales were observed to be low as compared to the other four subscales, which ranged from 0.71 to 0.78 and were in an acceptable range. Firstly, reliability analysis was executed to compute the mean, standard deviation, and Cronbach's alpha values of measuring tools (Table 1).

**Table 1:** Psychometric Properties of Questionnaires (Resilience and Quality of Life) in the Present Study

Measures	K	Mean ± SD	α
ARM-R	17	65.61 ± 7.88	0.76
WHOQOL-HIV BREF	31	116.31 ± 10.78	0.75
Physical	4	12.52 ± 1.92	0.54
Psychological	4	16.09 ± 2.3	0.77
Level of Independence	5	15.54 ± 2.51	0.71
Social Relationship	4	12.72 ± 2.79	0.76
Environment	4	28.11 ± 4.28	0.78
Personal Beliefs	8	13.19 ± 3.39	0.48

Note. K=Number of scales and subscales items;  $\alpha =$ Cronbach's alpha; ARM-R=Adult Resilience Measures-Revised scale; WH0Q0L-HIV BREF=World Health organization HIV quality of life scale.

Most of the participants living with HIV were men(77%). The participants' mean age was  $32.7 \pm 7.93$ . The majority of the participants were married and living with their spouses. Whereas, unmarried/single participants were noted to have the second-highest percentage (45%). Most of the participants had 1-3 children, and 7 males had 7-8 children. The majority of participants were uneducated or undermatriculated. A large percentage of the transgender and female participants were under-matriculated or uneducated. This can be seen that the majority of the participants were employed and doing jobs in the private sector and the government sector too. Furthermore, a

countable number of participants were self-employed and running their own businesses. Whereas, around 86% of transgender people were dancing and begging to earn money for food and clothes. The majority of participants' monthly family income was low. All participants are registered with PACP and regularly take ART. Furthermore, all the participants had no significant illness other than HIV infection(Table 2).

#### Table 2: Demagraphic Analysis(n=300)

Table 2: Demagraphi	Male	Female	Transgender	Total
Variables	ridle		ency (%)	TULAI
Age	232(77%)	52 (17%)	16(5%)	300(100%)
Aye		al Status	10(378)	300(100 %)
Single	117 (52.3%)	2(3.8%)	16 (100%)	135(45%)
Married	117 (32.5%)	26(49.9%)	10(100 %)	138(46%)
Divorced	1(0.4%)	3(3.8%)		4(1.3%)
Widowed	1(0.4 /₀)	19 (36.4%)		4(1.3%) 19(6.3%)
Separated	2(0.8%)	2(3.84%)		4(1.3%)
Separateu		of Children	_	4(1.3%)
None	140 (60.2%)		16 (100%)	156 (52%)
1-3 Children	59(25.3%)	46(88.6%)	10(100 %)	105 (32 %)
4-6 Children	30(12.9%)	2(3.8%)	_	32(10%)
7-8 Children	7(3%)		_	7(2%)
		cation	F (71 70/)	0/ (01 70/)
Uneducated	46 (19.9%)	13 (24.5%)	5(31.3%)	64 (21.3%)
Primary-Matriculation	120 (51.9%)	36 (67.9%)	11(68.9%)	167 (55.6%)
Intermediate	31(13.4%)	2(3.8%)	-	33(11%)
Graduation	29(12.7%)	1(1.9%)	_	30(10%)
Professional Degree	5(2.1%)	1(1.9%)	_	6(2%)
		pation		
Unemployment	36(15.6%)	12(22.6%)	1(6.3%)	49(16.3%)
Government Job	8(3.5%)	_	-	8(2.6%)
Private Job	83(35.9%)	4(7.5%)	1(6.3%)	88(29.3%)
Retired	6(2.6%)	1(1.9%)	_	7(2.3%)
Housewife	-	29(54.7%)	_	29(9.9%)
Self-Employed	53(22.9%)	6(11.3%)	1(6.3%)	62(20.7%)
Driver	13(5.6%)	_	_	13(4.3%)
Labor	27(11.7%)	1(1.9%)	-	28(9.3%)
Dancer	—	-	9(56.3%)	9(3%)
Begging	—	_	5(31.3%)	5(1.7%)
Doctor	2(0.8%)	_	_	8(0.6%)
	Monthly Fa	amily Incom	е	
Bellow 25000	108(36%)	38(12.5%)	10 (3.3%)	156(52%)
25001-50000	29(9.6%)	10(3.3%)	5(1.7%)	44(14.7%)
50001-75000	35(11.7%)	9(3%)	1(0.3%)	45(15%)
Above 75000	50(16.6%)	5(1.7%)	-	55(18.3%)
	Duration	n of Illness		·
Less Than 1 Year	104(47%)	21(39.6%)	6(37.5%)	131(43.7%)
Above 1 Year	127(53%)	32(60.4%)	10(62.5%)	169(56.3%)
		f Taking AR		· · · · ·
Less Than 1 Year	109(47.2%)	23(41.5%)	7(37.5%)	139(45.7%)
Above 1 Year	122 (52.8%)	30 (58.5%)	9(62.5%)	161(54.3%)

Significant Physical Illness Like Hepatitis/T.B									
Yes 0 0 0 0									
No	No 222 (100%) 62 (100%) 16 (100%) 300 (100%								

To determine the association between research variables, their subscales, and demographic variables, Pearson Product-Moment Correlation was used. Resilience had a significant positive association with demographic variables such as education, gender, and family income. However, resilience had a low or weak association with the age, marital status, and occupation of the participants. QOL had a significant positive association with the education of the participants and monthly family income. Moreover, QOL was negatively associated with gender. However, low and weak associations were found with age, marital status, and occupation of the participants (Table 3).

**Table 3:** Correlation between Adult Resilience Measures-revised

 Scale(ARM-R)and WH000L-HIV BREF(n=300)

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	
ARM-R							
Gender	0.15**	-	-	-	-	-	
Age	-0.07	-0.01	-	-	-	-	
Education	0.19**	-0.17**	-0.09	-	-	-	
Marital Status	-0.03	0.16**	0.29**	-0.16**	-	-	

Family Income	0.17**	-0.16**	-0.07	0.38**	-0.09	-		
Occupation	-0.10	0.28**	0.19**	-0.16**	-0.04	-0.13*		
WHOQOL-HIV BREF								
Gender	-0.15**	-	-	-	-	-		
Age	0.03	-0.01	-	-	-	-		
Education	0.25**	-0.17**	-0.09	-	-	-		
Marital Status	-0.08	0.16**	.029**	-0.16**	-	-		
Family Income	0.28**	-0.16**	-0.07	0.38**	-0.09	-		
Occupation	0.03	0.28**	0.19**	-0.16**	-0.04	-0.13*		

#### \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01

Further study indicates the result of Pearson's Moment Correlation between Adult Resilience Measure-Revised (ARM-R), World Health Organization HIV Quality of Life Scale (WHOQOL-HIV BREF) and its subscales. ARM-R had a highly positive association with WHOQOL-HIV BREF, Physical, Psychological, Level of independence, and Social relationships, It was a hypothesis that "There is a significant association between resilience and QOL in individuals with HIV". Thus, Hypothesis 1 was successfully accepted and indicated a highly positive association between resilience and QOL among individuals with HIV (Table 4).

Table 4: Correlation between Resilience and Quality of Life of Participants (n=300)

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
ARM-R												
WHOQOL-HIV BREF	0.53**	0.45**	0.33**	0.22**	0.42**	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Physical	0.41**	0.31**	0.25**	0.14**	0.20**	0.83**	-	-	-	-	-	-
Psychological	0.50**	0.42**	0.32**	0.20**	0.31**	0.89**	0.73**	-	-	-	-	-
Level of Independence	0.43**	0.35**	0.27**	0.18**	0.24**	0.75**	0.67**	0.63**	-	-	-	-
Social Relationships	0.42**	0.44**	0.28**	0.16**	0.44**	0.75**	0.49**	0.61**	0.48**	-	-	-
Environment	0.46**	0.46**	0.35**	0.22**	0.33**	0.84**	0.62**	0.74**	0.60**	0.55**	-	-
Personal Beliefs	0.29**	0.18**	0.09	0.15**	0.12*	0.67**	0.42**	0.50**	0.32**	0.49**	0.39**	-

\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01

In order to investigate the effect size in the group, Cohen's d was used. d=0.2 or bellow was considered a small effect size, d=0.5 or above was considered a medium effect size, and d=0.8 and above was considered a large effect size between the groups. Effect size varied from small to large effect size in all domains(Table 5).

**Table 5:** Mean ± SD and Comparison Groups (Cohen's d) (n=300)

Variables	Male	Female	<b>Trans-Gender</b>	Total	Cohen's d	Cohen's d	Cohen's d
		Mea	n±SD		Male-Female	Male-Transgender	Female-Transgender
ARM-R	66.22 ± 7.78	64.02 ± 7.66	61.94 ± 8.69	65.61 ± 7.88	0.28	0.51	0.25
WHOQOL-HIV BREF	98.18 ± 15.88	90.77 ± 14.62	93.81 ± 15.97	95.66 ± 15.88	0.48	0.27	0.21
Physical	15 ± 3.74	13.58 ± 3.45	14.63 ± 4.24	14.73 ± 3.75	0.39	0.09	0.27
Psychological	17.32 ± 3.22	15.83 ± 2.91	17.38 ± 3.05	17.07 ± 3.20	0.48	0.02	0.52
Level of Independence	13.06 ± 2.30	12.79 ± 2.55	12.69 ± 2.09	13 ± 2.33	0.11	0.17	0.04
Social Relationships	12.94 ± 2.84	11.90 ± 2.48	12.19 ± 2.69	12.72 ± 2.79	0.39	0.27	0.11
Environment	28.41 ± 4.19	26.81 ± 4.59	28.06 ± 4.04	28.11 ± 4.28	0.36	0.08	0.29
Personal Beliefs	11.45 ± 3.73	9.87 ± 3.27	8.88 ± 2.75	11.04 ± 3.69	0.45	0.78	0.33

Regression analyses was applied to investigate the impact of independent variables (Resilience) on the dependent variable (Quality of life). The model of regression was found to be a highly significant positive prediction (F (1,298) = 115.76, p<.001, R<sup>2</sup>=0.28) and accounted for 28% of the variance in QOL. The Durbin-Watson value was 2.11, and the model was found to be significant (Table 6).

**Table 6:** Regression Resilience as Predictor of Quality of Life ofParticipants(n=300)

Variables	Model 1							
variables	Α	В	t	р				
(Constant)	26.71	-	—	-				
Resilience	1.06	0.41***	10.76	0.0001				
R <sup>2</sup>	0.28	-	-	-				
F	115.76	-	—	-				
$\Delta R^2$	0.28	-	_	-				
ΔF	115.76	—	—	_				

A=Predictors: Resilience. B=Dependent Variable, Quality of Life (QOL).\*\*\*p<0.001

# DISCUSSION

The current research is one of the investigations on the role of resilience amongst individuals with HIV and their QOL; and how internal and external factors affect it. The study specifically examined the association between resilience and demographic variables to identify if any significant association exists. The findings of the study are discussed in light of recent literature, indigenous studies, and Pakistani culture. As a novel finding, analyses revealed that resilience is positively associated with QOL among individuals with HIV. The result of the present study supported the hypothesis as resilience was found to have a direct positive association with QOL among individuals with HIV. Similarly, Chmitorz et al., and Shi et al., found that higher levels of resilience were positively associated with better QOL [16, 17]. Our study has also examined the association between resilience and demographic factors such as gender, education, and income among individuals with HIV and found a significant association. This result can be related to previous research, such as a study conducted by Girma et al., in Ethiopia and Moyo et al., in South Africa, which found that resilience was significantly positively associated with higher education and income [18, 19]. For instance, a study conducted by Bärnighausen et al., found that resilience has a positive impact on QOL among HIV in Eswatini [20]. Similarly, a study by Rutter et al., found that resilience was positively associated with better mental health among individuals with HIV who had experienced stressful life events [21]. Analysis revealed that the majority of the participants were male with low family income and education. Whereas, they registered with the Punjab AIDS Control Program (PACP) and regularly took ART to save their partners from HIV infections. According

to WHO (2021), the prevalence of HIV infection among sex workers (3.8%), gay or other men who have physical contact with men, 3.7%), injection drug users (21%), transgender (5.5%), and prisoners(2%) in Pakistan[22]. Moreover, NACP established the Punjab AIDS Control Program (PACP) in Punjab province, and a total of 26 centers are working under the PACP in 16 districts of Punjab, as of March 2021 [23]. The prevalence of HIV/AIDS infection among high-risk groups, as well as preventing the epidemic from developing between the bridging communities and the general population. Therefore, research has suggested that ART/intervention aimed at enhancing resilience may be effective in improving QOL among individuals with HIV regardless of demographic factors. A study by Jiang et al., found that intervention improved QOL and mental health among individuals with HIV in Iran, regardless of gender, education, and income level [24].

# CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that this study revealed a significant association between resilience and QOL among individuals with HIV that was determined by demographic factors.

# Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: MA Methodology: MA, AN Formal analysis: AN Writing review and editing: HY

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

# Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

# REFERENCES

- [1] Zhang J, Ma B, Han X, Ding S, Li Y. Global, Regional, and National Burdens of HIV and Other Sexually Transmitted Infections in Adolescents and Young Adults Aged 10–24 Years from 1990 To 2019: A Trend Analysis Based on the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health. 2022 Nov; 6(11): 763–76. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(22)00219 -X.
- [2] Mirzapour P, Motlagh F, SeyedAlinaghi S, Mehraeen E. Comparison of the Effectiveness of Positive Thinking Training and Acceptance and Commitment Therapy On Quality of Life And Resilience of People Living with HIV. HIV and AIDS Review. International Journal of HIV-Related Problems. 2022 Jan; 21(1): 50-7. doi: 10.5114/hivar.2021.112404.

- [3] Lucas NA, Bates GW, Buzwell S. IAm More Than HIV: A Qualitative Exploration of Factors That Can Strengthen Resilience Among HIV-Positive Gay Men in Australia. Sexuality Research and Social Policy. 2024 Mar; 21(1): 372-87. doi: 10.1007/s13178-023-00829-9.
- [4] Zhao X, Sun M, Yang Y. Effects of Social Support, Hope and Resilience On Depressive Symptoms within 18 Months After Diagnosis of Prostate Cancer. Health and Quality Of Life Outcomes. 2021 Dec; 19: 1-0. doi: 10.1186/s12955-020-01660-1.
- [5] Sun Y, Song B, Zhen C, Zhang C, Cheng J, Jiang T. The Mediating Effect of Psychological Resilience Between Social Support and Anxiety/Depression in People Living with HIV/AIDS-A Study from China. BioMed Central Public Health. 2023 Dec; 23(1): 2461. doi: 10.1186/s12889-023-17403-y.
- [6] Sharp P, Oliffe JL, Kealy D, Rice SM, Seidler ZE, Ogrodniczuk JS. Social Support Buffers Young Men's Resilient Coping to Psychological Distress. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2023 Aug; 17(8): 784-91. doi: 10.1111/eip.13371.
- [7] Rivera-Picón C, Benavente-Cuesta MH, Quevedo-Aguado MP, Rodríguez-Muñoz PM. Differences in Resilience, Psychological Well-Being and Coping Strategies Between HIV Patients and Diabetics. In Healthcare 2022 Jan; 10(2): 266. doi: 10.3390/ healthcare10020266.
- [8] Dale SK, Reid R, Safren SA. Factors Associated with Resilience Among Black Women Living with HIV and Histories of Trauma. Journal of Health Psychology. 2021 Apr; 26(5): 758-66. doi: 10.1177/1359105319840 690.
- [9] Gardiner E, Mâsse LC, Iarocci G. A Psychometric Study of the Family Resilience Assessment Scale Among Families of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2019 Dec; 17: 1-0. doi: 10.1186/s12955-019-1117-x.
- [10] Haase SR, Billings R, Vance DE, Fazeli PL. The association between Intrapersonal Resilience Resources and Quality of Life Among Older Persons Living with HIV: A Systematic Review. Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care. 2023 Nov; 34(6): 502-26. doi: 10.1097/JNC.00000000000432.
- [11] Peccoralo LA, Mehta DH, Schiller G, Logio LS. The Health Benefits of Resilience. Nutrition, Fitness, and Mindfulness: An Evidence-Based Guide for Clinicians. 2020: 189-201. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-30892-6\_13.
- [12] Ogaji DS and Igwebuike OP. Cross-Sectional Investigation of Gender Differences in Health-Related Quality of Life Among HIV Patients: Implications for Gender Mainstreaming in HIV Management. Pan African Medical Journal. 2021 Jul;

39(1). doi: 10.11604/pamj.2021.39.201.24420.

- [13] Brij A. India's HIV/AIDS Strategy: Evaluating the National AIDS and STD Control Programme's Performance and Addressing Key Challenges in Phase-V(2021-2026). Policy. 2024 Dec.
- [14] Jefferies P, McGarrigle L, Ungar M. The CYRM-R: A Rasch-Validated Revision of the Child and Youth Resilience Measure. Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work. 2019 Jan; 16(1): 70-92. doi: 10.1080/237 61407.2018.1548403.
- [15] Khan MN, Akhter MS, Ayub M, Alam S, Laghari NU. Translation and Validation of Quality of Life Scale, The Brief Version. Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan. 2003 Feb; 13(2): 98-100.
- [16] Chmitorz A, Kunzler A, Helmreich I, Tüscher O, Kalisch R, Kubiak T et al. Intervention Studies to Foster Resilience-A Systematic Review and Proposal for A Resilience Framework in Future Intervention Studies. Clinical Psychology Review. 2018 Feb; 59: 78-100. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.11.002.
- [17] Shi M, Wang X, Bian Y, Wang L. The Mediating Role of Resilience in the Relationship Between Stress and Life Satisfaction Among Chinese Medical Students: A Cross-Sectional Study. BioMed Central Medical Education. 2015 Dec; 15: 1-7. doi: 10.1186/s12909-015-0297-2.
- [18] Girma D, Dejene H, Geleta LA, Tesema M, Legesse E, Nigussie T et al. Health Related Quality of Life Of HIV-Positive Women on ART Follow-Up in North Shewa Zone Public Hospitals, Central Ethiopia: Evidence From A Cross-Sectional Study. Heliyon. 2023 Feb; 9(2). doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e13318.
- [19] Moyo RC, Sigwadhi LN, Carries S, Mkhwanazi Z, Bhana A, Bruno D et al. Health-Related Quality of Life Among People Living with HIV in the Era Of Universal Test and Treat: Results from A Cross-Sectional Study in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. HIV Research and Clinical Practice. 2023 Dec; 25(1): 2298094. doi: 10.1080/25787489.2023.2298094.
- [20] Bärnighausen KE, Matse S, Kennedy CE, Lejeune CL, Hughey AB, Hettema A et al. This Is Mine, This Is for Me: Preexposure Prophylaxis as A Source of Resilience Among Women in Eswatini. Aids. 2019 Jun; 33: S45-52. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0000000000021 78.
- [21] Rutter M, Colvert E, Kreppner J, Beckett C, Castle J, Groothues C et al. Early Adolescent Outcomes For Institutionally Deprived And Non-Deprived Adoptees. I: Disinhibited Attachment. Journal of Child Psychology And Psychiatry. 2007 Jan; 48(1): 17-30. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01688.x.
- [22] Anwar MM, Kakar SJ. Identification of Drug-Resistant Mutations among HIV-1-Infected Individuals in the Pakistani Population. 2023.
- [23] Ahmed MA, Nazim A, Schwaiger E, Suneel I. Exploring Resilience and Its Correlates In HIV/AIDS Positive People in Lahore. International Review of Basic and Applied Sciences. 2024; 12(1): 1–0.
- [24] Jiang Y, Li X, Harrison SE, Zhang J, Qiao S, Zhao J et al. Effects of a Multilevel Resilience-Based Intervention on Mental Health for Children Affected by Parental HIV: A Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of Child and Family Studies. 2022 Apr; 31(4): 1094-105. doi: 10.1007/s10826-022-02236-x.



# PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)



### **Original Article**

Compare the Educational Environment and Prevalence of Myopia in Public and Private Schools

### Maryam Jabbar<sup>1</sup>', Farooq Ahmed<sup>2</sup>, Faisal Rashid<sup>2</sup>, Saqib Siddiq<sup>2</sup>, Muhammad Mueen Bhatti<sup>3</sup> and Khawaja Mohsin Ihsan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Optometry, University of Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan <sup>2</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Services Institute of Medical Sciences, Services Hospital, Lahore, Pakistan <sup>3</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Lahore Medical and Dental College, Lahore, Pakistan

## ARTICLE INFO

#### Keywords:

Myopia, Mitigation, Educational Environment, Prevalence

#### How to Cite:

Jabbar, M., Ahmed, F., Rashid, F., Siddiq, S., Bhatti, M. M., & Ihsan, K. M. (2025). Compare the Educational Environment and Prevalence of Myopia in Public and Private Schools : Educational Environment and Prevalence of Myopia. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 29-34. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1233

#### \*Corresponding Author:

Maryam Jabbar Department of Optometry, University of Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan maryamjabbar.OPT@tuf.edu.pk

Received date: 15<sup>th</sup> February, 2025 Revised date: 19<sup>th</sup> April, 2025 Acceptance date: 23<sup>th</sup> April, 2025 Published date: 30<sup>th</sup> April, 2025

## ABSTRACT

Myopia is a major cause of worldwide avoidable blindness, and its prevalence is increasing rapidly. Objectives: To investigate the relationship between myopia and educational environmental characteristics in public and private sectors. Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted from August to December 2024, implementing a stratified sampling technique. Two schools were chosen at random from each of the public and private school strata. From each grade level, students were then selected at random. Individuals with ocular problems or those who declined to participate were not included. 621 students between the ages of 8 and 15 took part. Ocular examination included refraction and visual acuity. A self-structured questionnaire was utilized to assess the home and school educational environment variables. SPSS version 26.0 was used for data analysis. Results: Among 621 students (mean age 13 ± 1.89 years), 46.53% were male and 53.46% were female. 387 students attend public schools, while 234 attend private. 33.8% myopia prevalence, with 10% having high, 33.33% having moderate and 56.66% having mild myopia. There were 109 myopes from private schools and 101 from public schools. 109 out of 234 students in private schools (46.58%) have myopia. A pleasant study area and the amount of time spent on homework are all factors linked to myopia in public and private school types. **Conclusions:** It was concluded that a notable difference was found in the public and private sectors' educational environments. More artificial lighting, fewer outside activities, and a stronger focus on digital learning resources like laptops and tablets are features associated with private schools.

## INTRODUCTION

Refractive error, mainly myopia, is primarily the reason for around one-fifth of all blindness cases worldwide[1]. About 30% of people worldwide are affected by myopia, a serious and sometimes unrecognized public health issue that is defined as a spherical equivalent refraction of  $\leq -0.50$ diopters (D)[2]. It starts early in infancy, impairs vision and lasts the entirety of a person's life [3]. Myopia can have a significant socioeconomic impact, which varies depending on age, the severity and geographic location (e.g., urban versus rural settings). The prevalence of myopia is predicted to increase dramatically over the next few decades due to existing trends [4]. 50% of people worldwide are expected to develop myopia by 2050, with 10% having serious myopia [2]. High myopia is thought to be a disease caused by a complicated interaction between environmental and hereditary variables [5]. Studies have linked environmental factors, such as less outdoor exposure, overly near employment, and higher educational attainment, to changes in genetic risk [6–8]. Furthermore, there may be a connection between the development of myopia and iris colour [9]. The global burden of myopiarelated vision impairment and blindness is predicted to increase significantly due to the strong correlation between myopia, particularly high myopia and sightthreatening consequences like retinal detachment, myopic maculopathy and glaucoma [10, 11]. Furthermore, a variety of factors, such as living environment [12], screen usage [13] and particular personality traits [14] have been connected to the prevalence of myopia. The relationship between myopia and education additionally attracted a great deal of interest. The evidence is currently limited and inconclusive, but some studies suggest that reducing the pressure to perform well in school may help lower the prevalence of myopia [15, 16]. Prior research has demonstrated a connection between myopia and level of education as well as educational level [17]. Additional aspects of the learning environment, however, have not gotten as much attention. So, it's very necessary to find successful school-based myopia prevention techniques.

This study aims to investigate the relationship between the prevalence of myopia and a wider range of educational environmental characteristics in public and private sectors.

### METHODS

The cross-sectional study was carried out in Faisalabad in 2024 between August and December. This study was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki's rules for biomedical research involving human subjects. A letter of ethical approval for this research (TUF/IRB/316/24) was issued by the University of Faisalabad, Ethical Institutional Review Board. The parents of the children provided their informed consent before they participated in the study. A stratified sampling procedure was used to guarantee the accurate representation of the children's sample. A sample size of 621 students was calculated with a 95% confidence interval, 80% power of the test and an expected percentage of prevalence of 33%. The population was separated into two strata, private and public, based on the kind of school. Two public and two private schools were selected at random from each stratum. After that, study participants were chosen at random from each grade level in each of these schools. People with ocular conditions such as strabismus, amblyopia, hyperopia, systemic diseases, ocular infections, and syndromes were excluded, as were those who chose not to participate. In each, 621 students between the ages of 8 and 15 were included in the study. An empirical method and a review of the literature were used to establish the sample size. Ocular examinations were conducted as follows: First, the children's visual acuity (VA) was assessed using the Snellen Chart. Pinhole visual acuity was also measured; individuals whose visual acuity decreased or remained unchanged were excluded from the experiment due to the possibility of pathology or amblyopia. Those whose pinhole visual acuity improved to 6/6 were considered to have uncorrected refractive error and underwent subjective refraction. If a child's visual acuity was less than 6/6 in either eye and their spherical equivalent refraction was greater than 0.5 diopter, they were classified as myopic. Conversely, children were classified as non-myopic if their visual acuity was 6/6 or better and their spherical equivalent refraction was 0.5 D or less. Demographic data, including age, gender and the prevalence of myopia and nonmyopia, was additionally gathered following the eye examination. A selfstructured questionnaire was used for data collection. The type of school, the artificial and natural lighting in the classroom, outdoor activities and the usage of digital learning tools like computers and tablets are all aspects of the educational environment in both public and private schools. The participants' home study environment was investigated as well in the survey, including whether they have a specific area at home where they study or complete assignments. It also evaluated the comfort and ventilation of the study space at home, including the presence of a suitable table and chair. Additionally, the daily amount of time spent on non-educational digital devices. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software version 26.0 was used to analyze the data. Frequency distribution and descriptive statistics were used for statistical analysis.

### RESULTS

The demographic data of this study include age, gender and the distribution of myopic and non-myopic individuals. The mean age of the participants was 13 years with a standard deviation of 1.89. Of the 621 participants, 332 (53.46%) were female and 289(46.53%) were male. In terms of refractive status, a total of 210 individuals were diagnosed with myopia, while 411 were non-myopic, indicating a 33.8% myopia prevalence in the study population. The degree of myopia was as follows: 21(10%) of the 210 myopic people had high myopia, 70 (33.33%) had moderate myopia, and 119 (56.66%) had mild myopia. Descriptive statistics and frequency distribution were applied to the demographic data(Figure 1).





The educational environment in both public and private schools consists of components like the school type, classroom lighting (artificial and natural), outdoor activities and the use of digital learning aids like computers and tablets. Frequency followed by percentage calculations was used in a statistical analysis to evaluate these parameters. According to the participants' school type, 234 participants (37.68%) attend private schools, while 387 participants (62.31%) attend public schools (Figure 2).



Responses to the questionnaire about classroom lighting revealed significant variations between private and public schools. Regarding classrooms with adequate natural lighting, 231 public school respondents (59.61%) said "Yes," whereas 156 respondents (40.31%) said "No." Conversely, just 61 private school respondents (26.06%) selected "Yes," while 173 (73.94%) selected "No." Public schools revealed that 298 respondents (77.01%) lacked adequate artificial illumination, whereas 89 respondents (22.9%) had enough lighting for reading and writing. However, 189 replies (80.76%) indicated appropriate artificial illumination, compared to just 45 responses (19.23%) suggesting insufficient lighting, indicating a higher percentage of favourable responses in private institutions. Based on these findings, it has been discovered that private schools typically employ artificial lighting more effectively, using LEDs, bulbs and other contemporary lighting options. Public schools, on the other hand, frequently feature bigger, airier classrooms with wider windows that bring in more natural light (Table 1).

Lighting Conditions		Private Schools	Public Schools
Adequate Natural Lighting	Yes	61(26.06%)	231(59.61%)
Adequate Natural Lighting		173 (73.94%)	156(40.31%)
Adequate Artificial Illumination	Yes	189(80.76%)	89(22.9%)
Adequate Artificial multimation	No	45 (19.23%)	298(77.01%)

Table 1: Frequency of Classroom Lighting (Artificial and Natural)

There is a notable difference between public and private schools, according to survey data about outdoor physical activities or breaks during school hours. 180 participants (3-4 times a week) and 119 participants (greater than 30 minutes every day) in public schools reported routinely participating in outdoor activities. Comparatively, 91 private school participants participate in outdoor activities three to four times a week, compared to just 34 who do so for more than 30 minutes each day. Furthermore, 39 participants from public schools and 41 from private schools reported no outdoor activities at all, whilst 49 participants from public schools and 68 participants from private schools reported engaging in outdoor activities less frequently than once per week. According to these findings, private schools tend to engage in fewer outdoor activities than public schools, which may be owing to a lack of open areas or a preference for more digitalized learning environments(Figure 3).





Participants' daily usage of digital devices (such as computers and tablets) for learning differed between public and private institutions. 314 individuals (84.13%) from public institutions and 65 people(27.77%) from private institutions were among those who used digital devices for less than two hours a day. In contrast, 169 (72.22%) of participants who employed digital devices for more than two hours a day were from private institutions, while 73 (18.86%) were from public institutions. This suggests that private school learners are more likely than public school students to use digital devices for academic achievement (Table 2).

**Table 2:** Frequency of Daily Usage of Digital Devices forEducational Purposes

Lighting Conditions		Private Schools	Public Schools
Usage of Digital Devices	Less Than Two Hours a Day	65(27.77%)	314 (84.13%)
(Such as Computers and Tablets)	More Than Two Hours a Day	169(72.22%)	73 (18.86%)

According to findings, students attending private schools had a greater number of myopic cases than students attending public schools. This difference may be attributed to several factors, including reduced outdoor activities, increased use of digital devices such as computers and tablets and greater exposure to artificial classroom lighting with limited natural light. Out of the 210 myopic individuals identified, 109 (51.90%) were from private schools, while 101 (48.09%) were from public schools. A total of 621 participants were screened in the study, with 234 attending private schools and 387 attending public schools. Notably, 109 out of the 234 private school students (46.58%) were found to be myopic. The possible influence of the home study environment on myopia has been evaluated. This addressed whether or not participants regularly study or do their schoolwork at home, if a dedicated study room was available and the study area's ergonomic comfort (e.g., suitable chair and table) and ventilation quality. The amount of time spent using digital

### Jabbar M et al.,

devices for non-educational purposes each day was also noted because extended usage of screens and near work may accelerate the development of myopia. Participants were asked if they had a specific area at home for studying that was well-ventilated and comfortable, with a suitable table and chair. 161 students (41.60%) from public schools and 171 students (77.07%) from private schools responded that they have a dedicated study space at home. However, 63 students (26.92%) from private colleges and 226 students (58.39%) from public institutions reported that they lacked a pleasant, defined study area at home (Table 3).

**Table 3:** Frequency of Myopic Individuals and Dedicated Study

 Room at Home

Variables		Public	Private
Frequency of Myopic	Myopic	101(48.09%)	109(51.90%)
Individuals	Non-Myopic	286	125
Dedicated Study Room at Home	Yes	171(77.07%)	161(41.60%)
	No	226(58.39%)	63(26.92%)

The amount of time spent studying or completing homework at home each day was an additional inquiry introduced to the participants. Among students attending public schools, 131 (33.85%) reported studying for more than three hours a day, while 256 (66.14%) reported studying for less than three hours. Comparably, 161 students (68.80%) in private schools reported studying for fewer than three hours a day, while 73 students (31.19%) said they studied for more than three hours (Table 4).

**Table 4:** Amount of Time Spent Studying or CompletingHomeworkatHome

Amount of Time Spent		Private	Public
oraajing or oomproring	>3 Hours/Day	73 (31.19%)	131(33.85%)
	<3 Hours/Day	161(68.80%)	256(66.14%)

The duration of time that participants spent using digital devices at home for purposes other than studying was a question that was asked of respondents. Among children attending public schools, 267 (68.99%) reported using digital devices for more than four hours a day, while 123 (31.78%) reported using them for less than four hours. While 189 students (80.76%) reported using digital gadgets for more than four hours a day, 45 students (19.23%) in private universities reported using them for less than four hours. The findings show that teenagers generally spend a significant amount of time on screens, indicating a growing trend in the use of digital devices by those in this age group (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Frequency of Time Spent Using Digital Devices for Non-Educational Purposes

### DISCUSSION

There were significant differences in the educational settings in the public and private sectors. Private schools tend to emphasize digital learning tools like computers and tablets, have more artificial lighting, and engage in fewer outside activities. On the other hand, public schools currently tend to provide more opportunities for outdoor play, rely less on technology, and use more natural light in their classrooms. Myopia has increased in prevalence as society has developed [18]. The development and progression of myopia are greatly impacted by outdoor activities, a lack of activity and excessive near work [19, 20]. By maximizing natural sunlight exposure, classroom design can significantly reduce myopia, according to a study by Wang et al., [21]. Their study showed the advantages of architectural elements that increase daylighting, indicating that classrooms with sufficient illumination may lower the risk of myopia in school-age children. The study additionally determined that students in both private and public schools used digital devices for non-educational purposes for a considerable period. According to the study, a deeper comprehension of such behaviours may help us understand how myopia emerges. Reducing mobile phone use and overall screen time in schools is the main goal of current public health programs. Anti-addiction programs are a prime instance of a technology-based solution that supports these strategies. Healthcare providers have a crucial duty to evaluate children's screen-time patterns and offer evidence-based recommendations for treating and preventing myopia. Longitudinal studies that examine the combined effects of multiple environmental factors may help design more effective preventive strategies.

### CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that myopia is more likely to be caused by the private sector's educational environment than by the public sector's. This comprises fewer outdoor activities, artificial lighting in the classroom, and an excessive use of digital learning tools like computers and tablets. One of the contributing causes was the excessive amount of time spent daily using digital devices for non-educational purposes in both public and private settings, as prolonged screen time and close work may accelerate the development of myopia.

### Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: MJ Methodology: MJ Formal analysis: FA Writing review and editing: MJ, FR, SS, MMB, KMI

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

### Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

### Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

### $\mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{N} \to \mathbf{C} \to \mathbf{S}$

- [1] Bourne RR, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, Cicinelli MV, Das A, Jonas JB et al. Magnitude, Temporal Trends, and Projections of the Global Prevalence of Blindness and Distance and Near Vision Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2017 Sep; 5(9): e888-97.
- [2] Holden BA, Fricke TR, Wilson DA, Jong M, Naidoo KS, Sankaridurg P et al. Global prevalence of myopia and high myopia and temporal trends from 2000 through 2050. Ophthalmology. 2016 May; 123(5): 1036-42. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2016.01.006.
- [3] Sankaridurg P, Tahhan N, Kandel H, Naduvilath T, Zou H, Frick KD et al. IMI Impact of Myopia. Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science. 2021 Apr; 62(5): 2-. doi: 10.1167/iovs.62.5.2.
- [4] Liang J, Pu Y, Chen J, Liu M, Ouyang B, Jin Z et al. Global Prevalence, Trend and Projection of Myopia in Children and Adolescents from 1990 to 2050: A Comprehensive Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. British Journal of Ophthalmology. 2025 Mar; 109(3): 362-71. doi: 10.1136/bjo-2024-325427.
- [5] Biswas S, El Kareh A, Qureshi M, Lee DM, Sun CH, Lam JS et al. The Influence of the Environment and Lifestyle On Myopia. Journal of Physiological Anthropology. 2024 Jan; 43(1): 7. doi: 10.1186/s40101-024-00354-7.
- [6] Li M, Lanca C, Tan CS, Foo LL, Sun CH, Yap F et al. Association of Time Outdoors and Patterns of Light Exposure with Myopia in Children. British Journal of Ophthalmology. 2023 Jan; 107(1): 133-9. doi: 10.1136/ bjophthalmol-2021-318918.

- [7] Gajjar S and Ostrin LA. A Systematic Review of Near Work and Myopia: Measurement, Relationships, Mechanisms and Clinical Corollaries. Acta Ophthalmologica. 2022 Jun; 100(4): 376-87. doi: 10.11 11/aos.15043.
- [8] Ding X, Morgan IG, Hu Y, Tang X, Zhang J, Guo L et al. The Causal Effect of Education on Myopia: Evidence That More Exposure to Schooling, Rather Than Increased Age, Causes the Onset of Myopia. Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science. 2023 Apr; 64(4): 25-. doi: 10.1167/iovs.64.4.25.
- [9] Rashid F, Jabbar M, Fatima N, Siddique M, Hussain A, Waheed K. Effect of Change in Iris Colour on Myopia. Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences. 2022 May; 16(04): 289-. doi: 10.53350/pjmhs221642 89.
- [10] Du Y, Meng J, He W, Qi J, Lu Y, Zhu X. Complications of High Myopia: An Update from Clinical Manifestations to Underlying Mechanisms. Advances in Ophthalmology Practice and Research. 2024 Jun. doi: 10.1016/j.aopr.2024.06.003.
- [11] Jiang F, Wang D, Xiao O, Guo X, Yin Q, Luo L et al. Four-Year Progression of Myopic Maculopathy in Children and Adolescents with High Myopia. Journal of the American Medical Association Ophthalmology. 2024 Mar; 142(3): 180-6. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.20 23.6319.
- [12] Choi KY, Yu WY, Lam CH, Li ZC, Chin MP, Lakshmanan Y et al. Childhood Exposure to Constricted Living Space: A Possible Environmental Threat for Myopia Development. Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics. 2017 Sep; 37(5): 568-75. doi: 10.1111/opo.12397.
- [13] Guan H, Yu NN, Wang H, Boswell M, Shi Y, Rozelle S et al. Impact of Various Types of Near Work and Time Spent Outdoors at Different Times of Day on Visual Acuity and Refractive Error Among Chinese School-Going Children. PLOS ONE. 2019 Apr; 14(4): e0215827. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215827.
- [14] Jabbar M, Siddiq S, Rashid F, Akhtar HM, Ali S, Iqbal RN et al. Exploring the Connection Between Myopia and Personality Traits: Myopia and Personality Traits. Pakistan Bio-Medical Journal. 2024 May: 25-9. doi: 10.54393/pbmj.v7i05.1090.
- [15] Morgan IG, French AN, Ashby RS, Guo X, Ding X, He M et al. The Epidemics of Myopia: Aetiology and Prevention. Progress in Retinal and Eye Research. 2018 Jan; 62: 134-49. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2017. 09.004.
- [16] Mirshahi A, Ponto KA, Hoehn R, Zwiener I, Zeller T, Lackner K et al. Myopia and Level of Education: Results from the Gutenberg Health Study. Ophthalmology. 2014 Oct; 121(10): 2047-52. doi: 10.10 16/j.ophtha.2014.04.017.

- [17] Morgan IG and Rose KA. Myopia and International Educational Performance. Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics. 2013 May; 33(3): 329-38. doi: 10. 1111/opo.12040.
- [18] George AS, George AH, Shahul A. The Myopia Epidemic: A Growing Public Health Crisis Impacting Children Worldwide. Partners Universal International Research Journal. 2023 Sep; 2(3): 120-38.
- [19] Philipp D, Vogel M, Brandt M, Rauscher FG, Hiemisch A, Wahl S et al. The Relationship Between Myopia and Near Work, Time Outdoors and Socioeconomic Status in Children and Adolescents. BioMed Central Public Health. 2022 Nov; 22(1): 2058. doi: 10.1186/s128 89-022-14377-1.
- [20] Dhakal R, Shah R, Huntjens B, Verkicharla PK, Lawrenson JG. Time Spent Outdoors as an Intervention for Myopia Prevention and Control in Children: An Overview of Systematic Reviews. Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics. 2022 May; 42(3): 545-58. doi: 10.1111/opo.12945.
- [21] Wang M, Peng X, Cai Y. A Multi-Metric Evaluation of Classroom Daylighting: Integrating Myopia Prevention and Visual Comfort. Journal of Building Engineering. 2025 Apr; 99: 111616. doi: 10.1016/j.jobe. 2024.111616.



# PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 04 (April 2025)



### **Original Article**

## Association of Screen Time and Headache and Its Impact on ADLs in Freelancers

### Sameen Arshad<sup>™</sup>, Saba Hashmi², Muhammad Tausif¹, Akash Zameer³, Rafay Shahab Ansari⁴ and Noman Qayyum⁵

<sup>1</sup>Department of Physiotherapy, King Edward Medical University, Lahore, Pakistan <sup>2</sup>Jinnah Medical University, Lahore, Pakistan <sup>3</sup>Azad Jammu and Kashmir Medical College, Jammu Kashmir, Pakistan <sup>4</sup>Ziauddin University, Karachi, Pakistan

<sup>5</sup>Bacha Khan Medical College, Mardan, Pakistan

### ARTICLE INFO

#### Keywords:

Cervicogenic Headache, Impairments, Pain Intensity, Migraine

#### How to Cite:

Arshad, S., Hashmi, S., Tausif, M., Zameer, A., Ansari, R. S., & Qayyum, N. (2025). Association of Screen Time and Headache and Its Impact on ADLs in Freelancers: Screen Time and Headache and Its Impact on ADLs . Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(4), 35-40. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1234

#### \*Corresponding Author:

Sameen Arshad Department of Physiotherapy, King Edward Medical University, Lahore, Pakistan samin.arshad13@gmail.com

Received Date: 24<sup>th</sup> February, 2025 Revised Date: 10<sup>th</sup> April, 2025 Acceptance Date: 21<sup>st</sup> April, 2025 Published Date: 30<sup>th</sup> April, 2025

## ABSTRACT

Freelancers are especially vulnerable to Cervicogenic headaches and migraines as a result of prolonged screen time because of inadequate cervical neck curvature and over-illumination. Persistent migraine and Cervicogenic headaches can have a significant impact on a person's activities of daily life. Objectives: To evaluate the relationship between screen time and headaches and their effects on activities of daily living. Methods: The data of 200 freelancers were collected within 3 months of age 18-45, and descriptive statistics and correlation analysis were done to explore the associations between screen time, headaches, and activities of daily living. Usually, throughout seven days, participants log their screen utilization in real-time or at regular intervals. Results: The mean age of participants was 25, with 77% of freelancers having Cervicogenic headaches and 23% Migraine, among which 25.5% had mild pain, 49.5% had moderate pain, and 25% had severe headaches. The HALDI score of 60.77% showed that freelancers had severe impairments in activities of daily living caused by migraine or Cervicogenic headaches. A p-value of 0.00 showed that screen time was significantly associated with headaches, and a p-value of 0.017 revealed a significant impact of headaches on freelancers' activities in daily life. Conclusions: It was concluded that screen time is significantly associated with headaches, and freelancers suffering from migraine or Cervicogenic headaches can have a severe impact on activities in daily life.

## INTRODUCTION

Over the past three years, the worldwide market for electronic labor has expanded by almost 50% as millions of independent freelancers increasingly use online platforms to find work [1]. Music, typing, computer programming, website design, graphic design, photography, translation, editing, and other tasks are among the most popular marketing-related tasks performed by freelancers who perform eight hours a day of work [2]. According to a study, headaches were experienced by 65.72% of people who spent more than three hours in front of a screen [3]. According to studies, computer users are increasingly experiencing Cervicogenic headaches and neck pain, primarily as a result of poor sitting position [4]. In young adults, screen time was also linked to migraine [5]. According to the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017, migraine is an acute illness that impacts over 1 billion people globally [6]. A study found that, with no discernible difference in screen time, 25.2% of participants had migraine without aura, 23.0% had migraine with aura, 28.1% had tension-type headaches, 15.8% experienced a combination of headaches, and 7.9% had an unclassified headache [7]. Additionally, it was revealed that the prevalence of headaches linked to screen usage increased during COVID-19 [8, 9]. In general, those with migraine symptoms were able to carry out work and other social tasks, although they indicated that their headache episodes impacted their everyday life [10]. Furthermore, a considerable percentage of headaches in patients with cervical pathology may be related to migraine or primary headache disorders instead of Cervicogenic headache, and the prevalence of Cervicogenic headache in the general population was reported to be 0.17%. Cervicogenic headaches also often co-occur with migraine or medication overuse [11]. Cervicogenic headaches can have a major negative influence on a person's quality of life and productivity in their everyday life and at work [12]. The Biopsychosocial Model provides a useful framework to examine how physical (e.g., screen-induced neck strain), psychological (stress and fatigue), and social factors (work demands) converge to affect headache incidence and activities of daily living (ADLs) in freelancers [13]. Previous studies have shown that the increase in screen use has raised concerns about health impacts, notably headaches, which can affect the ADLs.

This study aims to examine the correlation between daily screen time with headache intensity, and the impact of headache severity on ADLs in freelancers. It highlighted the potential hazards of excessive screen time in the booming freelancing industry, as chronic headaches can significantly impact quality of life, productivity, and concentration. The study aims to provide recommendations for workplace improvement and reducing headache risk.

### METHODS

A cross-sectional survey study was conducted after getting ethical approval from the institutional research board of the Medical Teaching Institution, Bacha Khan Medical College, Mardan, No. 515/BKMC. The study duration was June 2024 to December 2024. The patients' informed consent was taken before the data collection. A sample size of 200 freelancers was calculated based on power analysis for detecting a moderate correlation ( $r \approx 0.3$ ) with 80% power and alpha level (commonly 0.05). Data were collected using non-probability convenience sampling during the period of three months after taking informed consent from the patients with Cervicogenic headaches and migraines, aged 18-45 years. Usually, throughout seven days, participants log their screen utilization in real-time or at regular intervals. The patients with Migraines were diagnosed using standard International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition (ICHD-3) Criteria [14], and the Cervicogenic headaches (pain starting from the neck and spreading to the oculo-frontal and temporal areas) were diagnosed using clinical tests [15], including a decrease in cranio-cervical flexion with decreasing craniovertebral angle [16]. The people with systemic diseases, past spinal problems, psychiatric disorders, or spinal procedures were removed from the study. Data collected includes demographics, screen time, pain type, and intensity using NPRS, aggravating or relieving factors, and ADLs using the HALDI score [17]. The HALDI and NPRS scales were pre-tested on 20 freelancers to interpret reliability using Cronbach's alpha values of 0.839 and 0.811, respectively. Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS V23.

## RESULTS

In the study, 154 patients had Cervicogenic headaches, with a mean and SD of age 25.64 ± 6.70, whereas 46 patients had migraines, with a mean and SD of age  $25.13 \pm 5.92.93$ (46%) were female, and 107(53%) were male, among whom 154 (77%) had Cervicogenic headaches and 46 (23%) had Migraines, as shown in table 1.

Mantablaa		Type of headach	Total		
varia	ariables Cervicogenic Headache Migra		Migraine	e Total	
Candar	Female	64	29	93(46%)	
Gender Male		90	17	107 (53%)	
To	tal	154 (77%)	46(23%)	200	





The devices used for freelancing are given in figure 1.

Table 1: Types of Headaches and Gender Distribution

Screen time is depicted in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Screen Time(Hours)

The types of pain are illustrated in figure 3.





### Figure 3: Types of Pains

Headache intensity for the participants were measured using the Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NPRS). The study showed that (121) 60.5% had their pain aggravated due to head movement, (79) 39.5% had their pain while staying long in a static posture, among which (131) 65.5% had pain relieved by rest and medicines, and (69) 34.5% had pain relieved only by taking medicines and shown in figure 4.



**DOI:** https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i4.1234 For activities of daily living with headaches, the headache

Screen Time and Headache and Its Impact on ADLs

activities of daily living with headaches, the headache activities of daily living index (HALDI) was used, with a total score of 45, having nine questions (5 marks for each question). The score of 0-25% (0-11.25) mild, 26-50% (11.7-22.5) moderate, 51-75% (22.95-33.75) severe, 76-100% (34.2-45) complete impairments in activities of daily living. The HALDI score of 60.77% (27.35) falls into the "severe" group. The typical ratings for personal care, lifting, reading, sleeping, exercise, social activities, job, driving, and leisure range from 54.4% to 71.4%, as in table 2.

Variables	n (%)	Mean ± SD	SD. Error Mean
Personal Care	200(57.8%)	2.89 ± 1.129	0.080
Lifting Something	200(54.4%)	2.72 ± 1.242	0.088
Reading from a Book or Device	200(70.4%)	3.52 ± 1.252	0.089
Sleeping	200(63.6%)	3.18 ± 1.275	0.090
Exercise	200(55.2%)	2.76 ± 1.363	0.096
Social Activities	200(60.2%)	3.01 ± 1.228	0.087
Work	200(71.4%)	3.57 ± 1.217	0.086
Driving or travelling	200(58.8%)	2.94 ± 1.210	0.086
Recreating Activities Like Sports, Fun, or Leisure	200 (55%)	2.75 ± 1.246	0.088
HALDI Total Score	200(60.77%)	27.35 ± 6.642	0.470

Table 2: Headache activities of daily living Index(HALDI)

The HALDI Score across the severity of Headache (NPRS) are represented in table 3.

Table 3: HALDI Score and Headache Severity (NPRS)

Descriptive	NPRSS Scoring	Statistic	SD. Error
	1-3 (Mild)	25.55	1.080
HALDI Total Score (Mean ± SD)	1-5 (Filia)	7.716	
	4-6 (Moderate)	27.66	0.603
		5.997	0.003
	7-10 (Severe)	28.58	0.910
	7-10 (Severe)	6.434	0.910

While results suggest that at the mean screen time of 5.42 hours, there was an average of 5 (NPRS) headache score, depicting that increased screen time causes an increase in headache in Freelancers and shown in figure 5.



Figure 5: Correlation between Screen Time (Hours) and NPRS Score(95% CI)

The correlation analysis between the screen time and headache (NPRS) reveals a statistically significant positive relationship, with a Spearman's correlation coefficient of 0.562 (p=0.000). This indicates that as the screen time increases, individuals tend to report higher headaches, suggesting that greater screen time is associated with increasing headaches. The correlation analysis between the HALDI Total Score and Headache (NPRS) also reveals a statistically significant positive relationship, with a Spearman's correlation coefficient of 0.168 (p=0.017). This indicates that as pain intensity increases, individuals tend to report higher HALDI scores, suggesting that greater headache is associated with greater difficulties in daily activities, as shown in table 4.

Table 4: Correlation of Intensity	of Headache with Screen Time
and HALDI Score	

Correlations			Pain Intensity NPRS
		<b>Correlation Coefficient</b>	0.562*
Spearman's rho HALDI Total Score	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	
	nouro	Ν	200
		<b>Correlation Coefficient</b>	0.168*
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.017
	Ν	200	

\*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

### DISCUSSION

The study results revealed that 77% of the participants suffered from Cervicogenic headaches, while 23% were diagnosed with migraines. Among the participants experiencing migraines, 25.2% experienced migraine with aura, 23% experienced migraine without aura, and others reported mixed headache types. Javed et al., highlighted reduced craniovertebral angles and impaired cervical flexion as underlying causes of Cervicogenic headaches among computer users [4,]. The significant exacerbation

of headache with neck movements observed in the current study further supports these biomechanical theories. Among the migraineurs, 45% had throbbing or pulsatile pain, while 17.5% had dull pressing pain. Migraine-type headaches are triggered by static postures in freelancers who work in ergonomically suboptimal conditions. A previous study found that individuals with excessive computer use experience migraines with aura more frequently [3]. In another study, the majority of the participants (56.3%) reported no headaches, while 29.4% reported migraines, and a small number of participants also reported non-migraine headaches [5]. Freelancers are often devoid of ergonomically optimal workplaces, creating ideal scenarios for manifesting biomechanical and psychological stressors. Applying the biopsychosocial model helps us understand headache etiology in this cohort [13]. The study found that freelancers with a mean age of 25 were particularly prone to developing headaches, with daily screen time ranging from 3 to 10 hours, and 65.72% of the participants who had more than 3 hours of screen time [3]. Headache intensity and excessive screen time are positively correlated, with those having more screen time experiencing more headache symptoms [18] and higher intensity of pain [19]. Although the prevalence of Cervicogenic headache was greater in our study, a study found that increased exposure to screen time is more likely to be associated with migraine as compared to low screen time. The association was more pronounced in migraine without aura [5]. Meanwhile, another study found a significant association between screen time and migraine with aura in the pediatric population. Tension-type headache was reported by 28.1% of participants, 25.2% reported migraine without aura, 23% reported migraine with aura, while 15.8% and 7.9% reported mixed and unclassified headache, respectively [7]. The higher incidence of migraine could be attributed to participants' work-related stress and anxiety. Depression alone could increase the risk of moderate to severe migraine by 56%, while anxiety alone could increase this risk by 39%. Notably, the coexistence of both depression and anxiety could aggravate the symptoms further, with a 79% rise in risk [20]. In the current study, headache was found to be aggravated with head movement, while rest and medications alleviated pain. Pain intensity was quantified as per the numeric pain rating scale; the majority of the participants (49.5%) reported moderate pain, while 25% reported severe pain, indicating that a vast majority of the participants suffer moderate to severe pain due to excessive screen time. The current study also found a highly significant positive association between screen time and headache severity (Spearman's r=0.562, p=0.000), which aligns with the findings from Montagni et al., and Roy et al., who reported increased migraine pain with increased

screen time [5, 20]. The current study also highlights functional impairment due to screen time-related headaches, with average HALDI score placing most of the participants in the 'severe' impairment category. Ghaffar et al., and Awaki et al., reported that productivity loss and decreased quality of life were major consequences of chronic headaches [6, 21]. Headache-related functional disability has physical, psychological, and financial consequences, impacting the social, academic, professional, and personal lives of people [6]. Another study focusing on migraine-related disability found that 52.7% of participants had experienced disrupted sleep cycles, while 37.4% had severe mental impairment [21]. The study findings highlight the necessity for ergonomic education, behavioral adjustments, structured breaks, and the availability of a mental health support program. These measures are critical to preserving the well-being and productivity of the freelance workforce. The study limitations include a cross-sectional study design, which limits the causal inference, and reliance on self-reported data, which may introduce recall and reporting bias. Additionally, the non-probability sampling may limit the generalizability of the study findings. Further longitudinal and interventional studies could provide deeper insights into the causality and efficacy of ergonomic or behavioural interventions.

### CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that in addition to identifying a higher incidence of screen time-related headaches, the study revealed that Cervicogenic headaches are far more common than migraine among freelancers, and the higher screen time is significantly associated with headaches. The current study's findings also suggest that headaches have a negative impact on the activities of daily living of freelancers.

### Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: SH Methodology: SA, MT, AZ Formal analysis: SA Writing review and editing: SH, RSA, NQ

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

### Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

### Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

### REFERENCES

- [1] Munoz I, Sawyer S, Dunn M. New Futures of Work or Continued Marginalization? The Rise of Online Freelance Work and Digital Platforms. In Proceedings of the 1st Annual Meeting of the Symposium on Human-Computer Interaction for Work 2022 Jun: 1-7. doi: 10.1145/3533406.3533412.
- [2] Arifianto C, Vallentino M. A Study and Review of Freelancer Value Proposition. Journal of Research in Business, Economics, and Education. 2022 May; 4(1): 50-62.
- [3] Abou Hashish EA, Baatiah NY, Bashaweeh AH, Kattan AM. The Online Learning Experience and Reported Headaches Associated with Screen Exposure Time Among Saudi Health Sciences Students During the COVID-19 Pandemic. BioMed Central Medical Education. 2022 Apr; 22(1): 226. doi: 10.1186/s12909-022-03235-8.
- [4] Çaksen H. Electronic Screen Exposure and Headache in Children. Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology. 2021 Jan; 24(1): 8-10. doi: 10.4103/aian.AIAN\_972\_20.
- [5] Montagni I, Guichard E, Carpenet C, Tzourio C, Kurth T. Screen Time Exposure and Reporting of Headaches in Young Adults: A Cross-Sectional Study. Cephalalgia. 2016 Oct; 36(11): 1020-7. doi: 10.1177/0333102415620286.
- [6] Pardhan S, Parkin J, Trott M, Driscoll R. Risks of Digital Screen Time and Recommendations for Mitigating Adverse Outcomes in Children and Adolescents. Journal of School Health. 2022 Aug; 92(8): 765-73. doi: 10.1111/josh.13170.
- [7] Lund J, Berring-Uldum A, Colak M, Debes NM. Headache in Children and Adolescents: The Association Between Screen Time and Headache within a Clinical Headache Population. Neuropediatric. 2022 Aug; 53(04): 221-6. doi: 10.1055 /s-0041-1740550.
- [8] Tariq M, Asif K, Khursheed HA, Khalid Z, Ashfaq M, Maryam A et al. Excessive Electronic Screen Exposure and Headache in Teenagers. Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences. 2023 May 25;17(04):242-. doi: 10.53350/pjmhs2023174242.
- [9] Nair AN, Jayan AJ, Santhosh MM, Lalichen LM, Santosh A, Indu PS. High Screen Time and Associated Factors among High School Students in an Urban Setting of Kerala: A Cross-Sectional Study. International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health. 2022 Feb; 9(2): 767-71. doi: 10.18203/ 2394-6040.ijcmph20220237.
- [10] Sakai F, Hirata K, Igarashi H, Takeshima T, Nakayama T, Sano H et al. A Study to Investigate the Prevalence of Headache Disorders and Migraine among People Registered in a Health Insurance Association in

Japan. The Journal of Headache and Pain. 2022 Dec; 23(1): 70. doi: 10.1186/s10194-022-01439-3.

- [11] Im HJ, Hong YH, Cho SJ. Neck Pain Disability on Headache Impact and the Association Between Sleep Disturbance and Neck Pain in Migraine. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023 Jun; 12(12): 3989. doi: 10.3390/jcm12123989.
- [12] Donthu RK, Badabagni R, Mohammed AS, Vuddandam KV, Chatti VS. Association of Screen Time with Physical and Mental Health among Children: A Cross-Sectional Study. Journal of Indian Association for Child and Adolescent Mental Health. 2022 Oct; 18(4): 272-82. doi: 10.1177/09731342231168495.
- [13] Jain S, Shrivastava S, Mathur A, Pathak D, Pathak A. Prevalence and Determinants of Excessive Screen Viewing Time in Children Aged 3-15 Years and Its Effects on Physical Activity, Sleep, Eye Symptoms, and Headache. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2023 Feb; 20(4): 3449. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20043449.
- [14] Mataftsi A, Seliniotaki AK, Moutzouri S, Prousali E, Darusman KR, Adio AO et al. Digital Eye Strain in Young Screen Users: A Systematic Review. Preventive Medicine. 2023 May; 170: 107493. doi: 10.1 016/j.ypmed.2023.107493.
- [15] Nakshine VS, Thute P, Khatib MN, Sarkar B. Increased Screen Time as A Cause of Declining Physical, Psychological Health, and Sleep Patterns: A Literary Review. Cureus. 2022 Oct; 14(10). doi: 10.7759/ cureus.30051.
- [16] Anarte-Lazo E, Carvalho GF, Schwarz A, Luedtke K, Falla D. Differentiating Migraine, Cervicogenic Headache and Asymptomatic Individuals Based on Physical Examination Findings: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. BioMed Central Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2021Dec; 22: 1-8. doi: 10.1186/s12891-021-04595-w.
- [17] Vernon H and Lawson G. Development of the Headache Activities of Daily Living Index: Initial Validity Study. Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics. 2015 Feb; 38(2): 102-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jmpt.2014.12.002.
- [18] Roy S, Iktidar MA, Chowdhury S, Pulock OS, Pinky SD, Sharif AB. Increased Screen Time and Its Association to Migraine and Tension-Type Headache: A Cross-Sectional Investigation among Bangladeshi Students. British Medical Journal Neurology Open. 2024 May; 6(1): e000656. doi: 10.1136/bmjno-2024-000656.
- [19] Ambah T, Abidoye FE, McCalla CA, Kalejaiye M, Ihunda IC, Onwua-maegbu et al. Digital Age Headaches: Exploring the Neurological Impact of Screen Time and Blue Light. International Journal of Clinical and Medical Case Reports. 2025; 49 (3). doi:

10.46998/IJCMCR.2025.49.001212.

- [20] Ligthart L, Gerrits MM, Boomsma DI, Penninx BW. Anxiety and Depression Are Associated with Migraine and Pain in General: An Investigation of the Interrelationships. The Journal of Pain. 2013 Apr; 14(4): 363-70. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2012.12.006.
- [21] Awaki E, Takeshima T, Matsumori Y, Hirata K, Miyazaki N, Takemura R et al. Impact of Migraine on Daily Life: Results of the Observational Survey of the Epidemiology, Treatment, and Care of Migraine (OVERCOME [Japan]) study. Neurology and Therapy. 2024 Feb; 13(1): 165-82. doi: 10.1007/s40120-023-00569-3.